

# DEPARTMENT OF POLITICAL SCIENCE

# (RE)INSTALLING THE PATRIARCHAL SOCIETAL STRUCTURE

A discourse analysis of the current attempts of prohibiting abortion in the state of Ohio

Matilda Söderqvist

Master's Thesis: 30 credits

Programme: Master's Programme in International Administration and Global

Governance

Date: 2021-02-04 Supervisor: Hauwa Mahdi

Words: 19,996

# **Abstract**

Abortion is a highly debated topic, it has created a polarization between the ideologies of prochoice, the right to freely make your own choices, and pro-life, that all life has the right to be preserved. In the United States this debate is especially prominent, even though abortion is a right due to the Supreme Court decision of Roe v. Wade. Currently, efforts to overturn this decision, and prohibit abortion, has increased significantly. The state of Ohio has been particularly vigorous, attempting to almost completely prohibit, and heavily criminalize, abortion without nearly any exceptions. This study emanates from the claim that today's society is patriarchal, whereas women are subordinated. This hierarchical division generates advantages for men, which recurringly are threatened by women's emancipatory efforts. To counter these efforts and maintain the current order, a backlash is unleashed, often targeted at women's reproductive rights. This study aims to both map the construction of the discourse of abortion in the state of Ohio. And also, to understand the underlying motivation of this current backlash, by analyzing three bills aiming to prohibit abortion, with discourse theory. The results show that the discourse throughout these three bills evolves from appealing to a person's feelings of right and wrong, to explicitly prohibit abortion and threaten with the death penalty. A discursive change has occurred, which is perceived as a hegemonic *intervention* – an attempt to (re)install the patriarchal societal order.

**Keywords:** Abortion, Backlash, Power, Hegemonic intervention, United States, Roe v. Wade, Reproductive rights, Pro-choice, Pro-life.

# Table of Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	4
2.	PROBLEM FORMULATION	7
	2.1. Relevance to International Administration and Global Governance	
3.	BACKGROUND	10
3	3.1. Global Policies on Reproductive Health	10
3	3.2. IMPLEMENTATION OF REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH POLICIES	11
	3.2.1. Legal Access to Abortion in the US	12
	3.2.2. Legislative Reactions to Roe v. Wade in Ohio	
	3.2.3. The Societal Circumstances	15
4.	THEORY	17
2	4.1. The Current Societal Order	17
4	4.2. Previous Research	18
	4.2.1. Creating Physical Differences	18
	4.2.2. Backlash	
	4.2.2.1. The Concept of Family	
	4.2.2.2. The Current Backlash	22
5.	METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS	24
5	5.1. Method of Analysis	24
	5.1.1. Discourse Theory	
	5.1.1.1. Operationalization of the Discourse Theory	
_	5.1.2. Critical Reflections of the Method of Analysis	
-	5.2. METHOD OF DATA COLLECTION	
	5.2.1. Empirical Material	
	5.2.1.1. Methodological Considerations of the Bills	
	5.2.2.1. Ethical Considerations	
	5.2.3. Source Assessment	
6.	RESULTS	36
	6.1. Results of HB69	
	6.2. Results of SB23	
	6.3. Results of HB413	_
	6.4. Construction of the Political Discourse	
•	6.4.1. The Joint Discourse	
7.		
	7.1. Discussion of Change	
-		
8.		
	8.1. The Social Reality	
9.	CONCLUSIONS	
10.	REFERENCE LIST	58
	PENDIX 1: EXAMPLE OF THE INFORMAL CODING OPERATIONALIZED IN THE	

### 1. Introduction

Abortion is when a pregnancy ends, either spontaneously (through miscarriage) or is induced. Early induced abortions are often performed through a medical procedure, later in the pregnancy they are more often surgical. A combination of the two can also use be used (NE, w.y.c.). Women have always had abortions. Either by traditional methods, relying on folk knowledge and of varying efficiency, for example performed through traditional pharmacopeia. Modern methods are medical and/or surgical, consisting of dilation and curettage, and vacuum aspiration. Today's choice of method for an abortion depends on its legal status, the available technology, the duration of the pregnancy, access to abortion providers and the woman's financial resources (Guillaume, & Rossier, 2018:219-220). Abortion is a very safe procedure when performed correctly, and approximately one third of all pregnancies end in an induced abortion (WHO, w.y.a.).

Having equal access to human and reproductive rights has long been a part of women's struggle to gain emancipation and societal equality. Women have historically fought for the right to vote, for citizenship, and more recently, for equal pay and the right to contraceptives (Faludi, 1991:70; Walby, 1993:79-82, 86-88). Defining this as struggles is a way of illustrating that these progressive stances have not come without resistance and *backlash*. Backlash is a recurring reaction to every progress made by women striving for societal equality. It has always been deployed historically in relation to progress, and is a way to ensure and further subordinate women as such. It usually targets areas of reproductive health, such as abortion and contraceptives (Faludi, 1991:11) and are more prone to happen when conservative forces are in power (Ruibal, 2014:42-43). Many scholars argue that these backlashes to women's emancipation are closely related to an urge to maintain the patriarchal hierarchy in society, both socially and economically (Walby, 1993:79-88; Faludi, 1991:61-70).

Abortion is a highly debated topic, the tensions surrounding it are tangible. The main discourse regarding if abortions should be legal or not, is about whom is to be ascribed rights – the woman or the fetus. This is a debate stemming from a wider disagreement between two contesting ideologies:

pro-choice on one hand, and pro-life on the other<sup>1</sup>. The positions center around the concepts of reproductive rights and of personhood. The focus of pro-choice is on the legality of making one's own choices. The pro-life approach stems from the belief that all life deserves preservation, and that the government should be its granter (Head, 2019). The polarization between being pro-choice or pro-life attained its modern form in the latter half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century and is a controversy that spans the world (Rampell, 2018:226). This debate is especially prominent in the United States (US), where many states now attempt to restrict or completely prohibit abortion. The right to abortion was decided in the Supreme Court decision of the legal case of Roe v. Wade, in which the US Supreme Court decided that improper restrictive state regulation of abortion is unconstitutional (Beck, 2011:505-506; Borgmann, 2013:254-255; Gozdecka, 2020:6). This court decision has become a symbol for the ongoing debate of abortion, and the clear distinction between the ideologies of pro-choice and pro-life. However, this polarization was initiated before the Supreme Court decision. It is generally believed to have re-sparked the debate on abortion and given new energy to the prolife advocates (Greenhouse & Siegel, 2011:2028-2033; Greenhouse, 2012:75-76). The two major political parties have grown more polarized on the issue, Democrats identifying more as pro-choice and Republicans as pro-life (Saad, 2019, June 15). This can be traced back to the 1970's, when President Nixon in order to attract voters for his reelection took a strong stand against abortion and joined forces with the Catholic church to be appealing to both social conservatives and catholic voters (which historically had been aligned with the Democratic Party). This also affected Catholic's present identification as being pro-life (Greenhouse & Siegel, 2011:2033; Greenhouse, 2012:75-77).

Recently, the division between the two ideologies of pro-choice and pro-life has manifested itself in renewed opposition against Roe v. Wade. Attempts to overthrow it has intensified in some of the states in the US. Bills are being introduced in order to undermine, or overthrow, the Supreme Court decision, limiting the access to and/or prohibiting abortion. The state of Ohio has been particularly vigorous, trying to implement bills that both challenge the

=

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> These labels adhere from a dichotomy between two different ideologies, which includes more than just one's opinions of abortion they have a political and ideological origin. Using *pro-reproductive rights* and *anti-abortion* is a more neutral alternative to describe the debate (Planned Parenthood, w.y.b). Since the debate is not going to be examined per se, the more generally used labels of pro-choice and pro-life will be used in this study. Recent opinion polls show a continuing trend of Americans' self-identification as either pro-choice or pro-life, the division is approximately 50/50 (Saad, 2019, June 25).

woman's right to abortion, but also which almost completely prohibits abortion and criminalizes the woman (Williams, 2019, December 4).

#### 2. Problem Formulation

In this thesis the central objective is to analyze the current efforts by the state of Ohio to restrict the access to abortion, by introducing bills attempting to prohibit this procedure. These attempts to limit women's access to abortion are perceived as a *backlash* to women's emancipatory achievements, emanating from the need to protect and (re)install the patriarchal societal structure which in extension affects women's human and reproductive rights. This study takes its point of departure in the understanding of these bills as a part of the current backlash.

Therefore, the study's *aim* is to provide an analytical description of this specific expression of the current backlash, providing an overview of the political discourse of abortion in the state of Ohio. Guided by a discourse analysis and mapping central articulations, both the construction of, and motivation behind, the proposed bills will be examined. The construction gives an insight in which social reality this discourse creates and what consequences this might have. Patterns of how rights are being articulated will therefore also be explored since *power* is inherent in the language, to create a deepened understanding of the discourse's impact on women's ability to exercise power and make decisions about their own life and body. This method of analysis also allows for detecting elements of *change* in the discourse and further investigate its underlying structure, thereby creating knowledge about the particulars of the current backlash in the state of Ohio during a limited time-period.

This leads me to the research question(s):

- How is the political discourse of abortion in the state of Ohio constructed and has this construction changed?
  - What consequences could this backlash have for society in general and women in particular?

# 2.1. Relevance to International Administration and Global Governance

This study examines the current efforts to restrict women's access to abortion in the state of Ohio. Focusing on this particular case, and further examining its underlying motivations, structure and potential discursive changes, is relevant for the field of International Administration and Global Governance (IAGG) since it can offer an insight in the policy-field

of abortion. How policies of abortion are constructed and how they and other policies of human rights are implemented, are interesting for IAGG's field of research and for conducting feminist critical research. Investigating a particular case can add to the understanding of the long-term effects on the political, economic and social development and consequences in this specific case (Göteborgs Universitet, w.y.), but also in similar cases. Therefore, this study can add to the scholarship (Marshall & Rossman, 2016:5) and field of IAGG.

#### 2.2. Delimitation

This study is limited due to resources such as time constraints, funding and distance to the US. The focus is on one case in the global debate on abortion rights: the state of Ohio, their introduced bills, and the effects of the debate there, locally. Therefore, it cannot be anticipated to be representative for all cases of restricted abortion rights or be generalizable to a larger population or similar case. Nevertheless, it could give insight on the researched topic, function as a contribution to this field of research and serve as an example of how to investigate similar cases (Esaiasson, Gilljam, Oscarsson & Wängnerud, 2012:57–58, 89–90), even though one must bear in mind that qualitative research does not aim to be replicable (Marshall & Rossman, 2016:263). By analyzing bills, the discourse analysis is limited to, and focuses on, the political discourse of abortion.

In order to focus the study, I have also made a time-limitation to the years of 2015-2019 based mainly on the #MeToo movement, the inauguration and presidency of the Republican President Donald Trump (since his presidency is perceived as having had a direct effect on the backlash towards women)<sup>2</sup>, and the empirical material. The included empirical material consists of bills introduced before and after the inauguration<sup>3</sup>. This entails an American context, which one must bear in mind regarding women's emancipatory struggles, backlash, history of sexual and reproductive health and attempts to attain human and reproductive rights. The historical period described includes some societal circumstances in the late 18<sup>th</sup> century until present day, but is mainly focused on the 1970's and forward. This was when Roe v. Wade was decided upon, and when one of the most prominent feminist struggles were initiated (Faludi, 1991; Borgmann, 2013:254-255). Roe v. Wade is a denominator both for the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Read more about this in 3.2.3 The Societal Circumstances and chapter 4.2.2.2. The Current Backlash.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The selection of the empirical material will be discussed further in chapter 5.2.1. Empirical Material.

abortion debate as such, and for the understanding of backlash. However, this case will not be an object of analysis in itself, even though it is closely related to the increasing efforts of prohibiting abortion through legislation, and backlash as a reaction to emancipation. This and other feminist movements, as well as the #MeToo movement, will not be presented or analyzed to any extent other than providing a background of women's struggles and being reasons for backlash. Discussions of the technological and moral aspects of the abortions discourse, as well as who is wrong or right<sup>4</sup>, is not included. The study aims to describe and analyze the motivation behind, and the overall impact of, these bills on society and women. This excludes an intersectional analysis of its consequences for women of different race, class or economic status, and individual or particular experiences of being a woman (Butler, 1999).

4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A more thorough discussion about my role as the researcher, and how to create a scientific and sound qualitative study, is presented in chapter 5.2.2. A Scientific and Sound Study.

# 3. Background

This section creates an overview of the *global policies on abortion rights*, and how these policies are *implemented* in nation-states. This overview spans from a global setting, to how the US as a nation handle these global polices and implement them, and ends in a local setting of the states' approaches to policies and legislation regarding abortion – especially concentrating on the current attempts of prohibiting abortion in the state of Ohio.

#### 3.1. Global Policies on Reproductive Health

In the global discourse of abortion rights, the issue has mainly been presented as a public health problem since the 1990s in relation to unsafe abortions and maternal mortality (de Zordo & Unnithana, 2018:658). Women's rights norms have both been widely adopted, and contested, in United Nations (UN) bodies, treaties and documents (Sanders, 2018:272-274). The committee of the United Nations Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW)<sup>5</sup> from 1979, has an article declaring that women have the human right to freely, and without coercion, decide upon when and how many children they want, and also to attain the highest standard of sexual and reproductive health. Other UN conferences and bodies, such as The International Conference on Population and Development in Cairo 1994, and the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action formulated on the fourth World Conference on Women 1995, repeat these rights. Still, abortion as such is not an explicitly constituted human right. Law-making on abortion is considered more of a national matter, which should be guided by UN conventions and regulations (NE, w.y.c.).

Within the UN, there has been an institutionalization of women's rights in a variety of policy and legal instruments creating certain norms. These have however not been able to affect patriarchal structures, and misogynistic practices, in some nation-states. The implementation of these norms is also stalled by attempts of undermining them by nationalistic and religious forces, both non-state and state actors tries to diffuse and hinder further development of women's rights by challenging these norms (Sanders, 2018:271-275). These attempts and achievements are considered a backlash to women's rights. Since the 1990's an anti-feminist

10

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The CEDAW Committee is the key human rights body that specifically monitors and promotes women's human rights, and reviews states' implementation of CEDAW (Halperin-Kaddari & Freeman, 2016:188).

group<sup>6</sup> opposing women's rights has deliberately attempted achieve this by undermining these rights and aiming to restoring "the natural family" (Ibid; Cupać & Ebetürk, 2020:702-703). The most success in reversing women's rights has been in UN Human Rights Council, the Commission on the Status of Women (CSW), and the Security Council (Cupać & Ebetürk, 2020:702-703). This has been achieved by interpretations of certain human rights, particularly traditional values, and, the protection of the life and "the natural family", in accordance with their own agenda. These conservative forces have established norms which affects women's status in many domestic contexts, but this development is not yet institutionalized in international policy or legal instruments (Sanders, 2018:271-275).

#### 3.2. Implementation of Reproductive Health Policies

The CEDAW has been ratified by 189 nation-states and signed by 99. The US, together with Iran, Palau, Somalia, Sudan and Tonga are the UN member states that have not ratified the treaty. The Vatican City is the one UN non-member state that has not acceded the treaty, and the Republic of China (Taiwan) is the one UN non-member state that has ratified the treaty (UNTC, w.y.a.). The vast majority of the UN member states: "have voluntarily agreed to respect, protect, promote and fulfil the human rights of women under all circumstances." (OHCHR, w.y.). Nevertheless, the right to abortion is restricted in many countries. It is either illegal or only permitted in case of danger for the woman's life for 25% of the world's population. An additional 14% are only permitted to have an abortion for health reasons. One fifth of the global population can have abortions because of socioeconomic factors, such as age or economy. Free abortions until a certain week of the pregnancy are available for approximately 40% of the world's population (NE, w.y.c). Each year, there are 121 million unintended pregnancies, and 6 out of 10 of them ends in an induced abortion. In addition, 45% of all abortions are unsafe, and causes and 4.7% - 13.2% of maternal deaths, mainly performed in developing countries. Women lacking access to safe abortions often resort to unsafe alternatives, which imposes great health risks such as life-long complications, affecting the mental and physical health, or death. Main barriers to accessing safe abortion include restrictive laws, poor availability of services, stigma, high costs, the conscientious objection of health-care providers, and other requirements that delay care, such as mandatory

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This group has become more organized, and consists of post-Soviet, Catholic, and Islamic states; the United States; the Vatican; conservative non-governmental organization (NGOs), occasionally joined by regional organizations and groupings such as the Organization for Islamic Cooperation, the League of Arab States, the UN Africa Group, and the G77 (Cupać & Ebetürk, 2020:703).

waiting periods, mandatory counselling, provision of misleading information, third-party authorization, and medically unnecessary tests (WHO, w.y.a.). Any woman without access to safe abortion is at risk of having an unsafe abortion in case of an unwanted pregnancy. When access to effective contraception and safe abortion is limited or unavailable, the rate of unsafe abortions is higher (WHO, w.y.b.).

The global policies on reproductive rights have been implemented to some extent in the US, but the country has a history of not signing important policies and treaties regarding women's human rights and rights to equality. After the world wars, they did not sign the Equal Rights Amendment (ERA), a convention for ensuring equal rights for women and men (Faludi, 1999:66). They have signed, but not ratified, several human rights treaties such as the CEDAW and the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) (HRW, 2009). In addition, they have neither signed nor ratified the optional protocol of the CEDAW (UNTC, w.y.b.).

#### 3.2.1. Legal Access to Abortion in the US

Roe v. Wade was a legal case decided upon in 1973 in the US Supreme Court, which regulated the constitutional right to abortion and decided that improper restrictive state regulation of abortion is unconstitutional (Borgmann, 2013:254-255; Planned Parenthood, w.y.a.). Unduly restrictive abortion regulations were claimed to impede on a woman's constitutional right to privacy, this ended the century-long criminalization of abortion and invalidated almost all state laws of abortion. This decision was however not just a simple right to abortion. The interest of protecting the fetus was weighed against a woman's right to privacy, and it was decided that abortion falls under this right (Gozdecka, 2020:6; Greenhouse, 2012:75-76). The decision was a balancing act between when, and how, compelling state interest could interfere with fundamental rights of the individual, and the health of women and fetuses. Up until approximately the end of the first trimester the states cannot interfere with a woman's right to abortion, it is up to the physician's medical judgement to effectuate the procedure. During the second trimester abortion regulations could be adopted by the state's, as long as maternal health was taken into consideration. The third trimester is associated with fetal viability<sup>7</sup>, and this was decided as a denominator for when a state's interest in protecting a potential life could allow the regulation of abortion, with exceptions for the life and health of the woman (Beck, 2011:505-506). Since 1973 Roe v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See footnote 19 about fetal viability.

Wade has been challenged many times by the introduction of bills, attempting to undermine or overturn the decision (Borgmann, 2013:254-255). The Roe v. Wade case did in addition to re-spark the abortion debate and somewhat contribute to a more prominent polarization (Greenhouse & Siegel, 2011:2028-2033; Greenhouse, 2012:75-76), also influence and change it by creating a political shift. The debate of abortion went from being based on policy-related issues such as population control, to be about rights for whom – the woman or the fetus (Ziegler, 2009:284, Gozdecka, 2020:5)? The Supreme Court decision is perceived as having generated a backlash of which effects we still see today in the current debate on abortion (Greenhouse & Siegel, 2011:2028; Greenhouse, 2012:70).

In 1992 the right to abortion was reaffirmed in the case of *Planned Parenthood of Southeastern Pennsylvania v. Casey*. The pro-life movement had hopes of overturning Roe v. Wade and passing a federal "Human Life Amendment" that treated embryos and fetuses as constitutional persons. Even though the case reaffirmed the right to abortion, it opened up for implementing regulations to having an abortion, such as; ultrasound requirement's, mandatory waiting periods, and abortion facility regulations. The pro-life advocates have taken initiatives to undermine the right to abortion and Roe v. Wade: giving it disfavored treatment in the law in as many channels as possible; a steady stream of abortion restrictions has been produced and sent through states legislatures and Congress; measures to enhance the legal status of fetuses and embryos has been taken (Borgmann, 2013:245-247). In 1976 the *Hyde Amendment* was enacted. It regulated the use of Medicaid funds, and limited the funding of abortions to only be allowed in cases where the woman's life is in danger. This dissociation of federal funds from abortion-related services has been replicated in many public and private health insurance plans, particularly affecting women with low income and women of color's access to abortion services (Adashi & Occhiogrosso, 2017:1523).

Recently, initiatives to restrict abortion have multiplied in the states' (Ziegler, 2009:284), 424 restrictions of abortion have been decreed since 2011 (Planned Parenthood, w.y.a.). In 2019 these efforts ramped up and 58 restrictions were enacted during the year (Cappello, Mohammed, Naide & Nash, 2019), some of which have been found to be unconstitutional. Consequently, there are now 20 states ready to ban abortion if Roe v. Wade was to be overturned. Recent inquires show that approximately 60% of Americans do not want the decision to be overturned (Saad, 2019, June 25; Planned Parenthood, w.y.a.), 65% think that the trend of restricting abortion access is going in the wrong direction and 67% think that

abortion should be legal in all or most cases (Planned Parenthood, w.y.a.). Creating legislation which refers to the fetal heartbeat as a denominator for having an abortion is a direct violation of Roe v. Wade (Borgmann, 2013:247). There are local initiatives of ensuring women's rights and access to abortion in the US. Just over 40 local governments and cities within the US have locally implemented CEDAW ordinances or regulations. The city of Cincinnati in the state of Ohio is one of these initiatives, having implemented the principles of CEDAW on a local level, to defend and preserve women's rights (Women's Intercultural Network, w.y.a.). There are also examples of states that are ensuring access to safe abortions. New York has taken measures to ensure the legal access to abortions even if Roe v. Wade is overturned, guaranteeing that the actions of a woman or physician will not be criminalized and ensuring the right to abortion later on in the pregnancy (Planned Parenthood, w.y.a.).

#### 3.2.2. Legislative Reactions to Roe v. Wade in Ohio

Ohio is one of the states which are openly challenging the right to safe and legal abortions. The state has recently taken extensive measures to restrict abortion, and currently has one of the most rigorous legislative approaches to abortion in the US. Ohio has tried to enact bills prohibiting abortion since 2011. The ones' prior to 2019 have either been vetoed or have not come into effect<sup>8</sup> (Kasler, 2019, February 13; Tavernise, 2019, April 18). Three of these bills constitute the empirical material in this study, HB69, SB23 and HB413.

In 2015 the House Bill 69 (HB69) was introduced. The bill banned abortion after the first fetal heartbeat is detected, which is about six weeks into a pregnancy and often before many women know they are pregnant. Other main propositions were that a doctor that performs an abortion after a detected heartbeat could be charged for a fifth-degree felony. Exceptions to this prohibition were when the woman's life was at risk, or when serious complications could emerge. Sponsors of this bill were two Republicans, Christina Hagan and Ron Hood. It was added on to another bill (HB493) which was unrelated to the topic, and therefore passed both the House of Representatives and the Senate. Governor John Kasich vetoed HB69, thereby removing it from HB493 before this bill was signed into law (Prohibits Abortion if Detectable Heartbeat Act, 2015; ACLU, w.y.). In February 2019 the Senate Bill (SB23) was introduced, sponsored by Republican Senator Kristina D. Roegner. This bill forbade abortion after a fetal

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Read a more thorough description about the bills, and choice of empirical material, in chapter 5.2.1. Empirical Material.

heartbeat is detected, just as HB69. SB23 was signed by Governor Mike DeWine and expected to be legislated in July, but was stopped by a federal judge (Prohibit Abortion Act, 2019a; CNBC, 2019, April 11). Another House Bill (HB413), was introduced in November 2019, also sponsored by Senator Kristina D. Roegner, which suggested the banning of abortion in nearly all cases from the time of conception. No exceptions would be made in cases of rape or incest (Define Offenses Act, 2019). Another controversy in this proposal was the directive for doctors to "reimplant an ectopic pregnancy into the woman's uterus" (Williams, 2019, December 4). An ectopic pregnancy is potentially a life-threatening condition for the woman, and there is no scientific evidence that such a transplantation would entail a continued normal development in the womb (Ibid). This bill also created two felonies, abortion murder and aggravated abortion murder. Both the woman having an abortion, and the physician performing it, could be charged with these crimes and convicted to life imprisonment and/or the death penalty (Define Offenses Act, 2019). HB413 is perceived as one of the most restrictive bills in decades (Williams, 2019, December 4).

#### 3.2.3. The Societal Circumstances

To understand why these attempts to prohibit abortion is currently gaining more ground in the US, one has to take other societal events into consideration that could be potential explanatory factors to this currently intensified backlash. In 2017, the #MeToo movement had a surge which highlighted a global public outcry of male offenses. It was an open platform for the public revelation of male privilege and abuses, which delegitimated male norms by mass scale of serial exposure of the abusers. As a consequence, some male offenders were removed from office and power (Cherniavsky, 2019:11, 18; HRW, 2020).

Another potential factor is that the Republican Party candidate Donald Trump was elected President in 2016 and took office in 2017. He has publicly supported anti-abortion measures. In January 2019 he attended the March for Life's annual gathering, making a speech where he declared that he participated to defend the rights of every unborn child to fulfil their Godgiven potential (Prasad, 2019, January 24). In addition, Trump has appointed three new judges to the Supreme Court and has explicitly expressed this as a part of his intention to overturn Roe v. Wade (BBC News, 2020, October 27; Berman, 2017, March 21; North, 2019, May 10). Some claim that when Judges Gorsuch and Kavanaugh were sworn into the Supreme Court, creating a conservative majority, it was a clear signal to legislators throughout the country that there was now an opportunity to enact laws restricting abortion

(CNN, 2019, 15<sup>th</sup> of August; Oppenheim, 2019, April 17; North, 2019, May 10). Right before the Presidential election 2020, judge Barrett, appointed by President Trump, was confirmed to the Supreme Court, further adding to its conservative majority (BBC News, 2020, October 27). Because of the more conservatively constituted Supreme Court, most opponents of abortion are now clearly stating that their newly enacted restrictive laws are passed to give the US Supreme Court opportunities to undermine, or overturn, Roe v. Wade (Cappello et al, 2019).

The Trump administration has also taken deliberate actions to impede women's access to reproductive health services, such as abortion and contraceptives (Chuang & Weisman, 2019:993; Gozdecka, 2020:9; Guttmacher Institute, w.y). Resolution 2467 adopted by the UN Security Council, had to remove the term "sexual and reproductive health" due to a threat of vetoing it from the Trump administration (Cupać & Ebetürk, 2020:702-703). The enactment of the "global gag rule" was reinstated and widened by President Trump, renamed to "Protecting Life in Global Health Assistance", one of the main aims is reducing the number of abortions. Trump's expansion involved that the rule applied to nearly all US global health assistance, thereby additionally affecting areas such as water, HIV and AIDS, maternal and child health, and gender-based violence. Never before has this rule affected this many partners, agencies and public health programs (Bingenheimer & Skuster, 2017:279-280; Guttmacher Institute, w.y; Mavodza, Goldman & Cooper, 2019:2, 17; Walton-Roberts, 2019:21-22). Another measure was the implementation of two rules that on the basis of interference of one's moral or religious beliefs, would allow employers to deny contraceptive coverage for their employees. These were targeted at the Affordable Care Act (ACA), and its requirement of the coverage of contraception and contraceptive counseling without patient cost sharing in private health plans. These rules were temporarily blocked from implementation by a federal court in Pennsylvania (Chuang & Weisman, 2019:993; Gozdecka, 2020:9).

# 4. Theory

This chapter will firstly define the current societal order. The allocation of the research problem, as well as the analysis, emanates from this understanding of how our society is structured. It underpins chapter 4.3. Previous research, and permeates all arguments and interpretations in this study. This chapter will also give an overview of the research field of the creation of physical difference's which asserts control over the woman's body, and expressions backlash to women's emancipation.

#### 4.1. The Current Societal Order

The most fundamental assumption and presumption for this study is that we live in a patriarchal society. Male dominance is "invisible" since it is both legally instituted and perceived as natural by society, thereby perceived as not needing change by those who benefit from it (Björk, 2018; Chodorow, 1978; Hill Collins, 1998). This is structured by norms such as the nuclear family, heterosexuality and social hierarchies, which includes female subordination. There is a power imbalance between the sexes, and the social hierarchy simultaneously reconstructs and consolidates the hierarchy on multiple levels which adds to the "naturalness" and "invisibility" of the patriarchy (Hill Collins, 1998).

The gender system is a concept that further explains this societal order. It builds on two principles, a separation of the sexes and male supremacy. This creates a dichotomy between women and men, and between masculinity and femininity, that creates a division of which societal arenas each sex has access to. This is a hierarchical division, and it works both vertically and horizontally. It is most easily demonstrated by using the labor market as an example. A majority of women and men work in different gendered sectors, one of care, dominated by women, and one of technology, mostly occupied by men. They are also further divided within the same sector where, for example, men in contrast to women, more frequently obtain leading positions. Men's work, and their societal supremacy, are ascribed more worth – which also entails more power. Men are seen as the norm, and women as an exception and something deviant. This gender system is palpable on both an individual and structural level (Hirdman, 1997). This also means that the societal order is not perceived as unjust but natural, even though femininity does not have the same status as masculinity, since the latter is the norm of which femininity does not live up to (Björk, 2018:217).

However, the inequalities this structuring of society generates creates resistance which is shown in women striving for emancipation. These attempts are often met with backlash, attempts to maintain and (re)install the patriarchal structure. This interplay between women's emancipation, and backlash, which emanates from the current patriarchal societal order, lies at the very core of this study's research problem and will be further explained and explored in the following chapters.

#### 4.2. Previous Research

The purpose of this chapter is to create an understanding for the current backlash in the state of Ohio, attempting to prohibit abortion, by looking at historical events and the theorizations of the subject made by scholars. This chapter will include a section of the creation of physical differences, since the inequality between the sexes, and the need to maintain it for those groups that benefit from it, is the prerequisite for the phenomenon backlash. This concept will be defined and explored, and also related to the current expressions of it in the state of Ohio in order to substantiate my claim that this is indeed a backlash.

#### 4.2.1. Creating Physical Differences

The woman's body has long been a subject of mystery in need of investigation, deviant in comparison with the male body. Ancient Greek philosophers and healers such as Aristoteles and Galen perceived the penis as perfect and the female reproductive organs as imperfect, being devoid of the penis. During the renaissance the vagina was described as an inverted version of the male organ. More recently, Freud defined femininity as a lack of penis. This understanding of genital hierarchy still prevails today amongst some scholars (Braun & Wilkinson, 2001). The woman and her body have been, and still is, perceived as opposite and lesser in comparison to the man, a deviant from the masculine norm and therefore subordinated physically, as well as in society (Johannisson, 1994).

Discursively, a clear dichotomy has been made between the man, his intellect and rationality, and the woman, her body and reproductive organs. There is a constructed analogy between him and culture, and her and nature. Historically, the woman was presumed unfit for higher studies or other intellectual activities due to her primary undertaking of producing children. To abandon one's primary function was deemed as highly immoral, selfish and unwomanly (Butler, 1999:165; Arrhenius, 1999:79-81; Johannisson, 1994:7). Emphasis was put on how

the woman was controlled by her genitalia, for instance bleeding regularly, and she was therefore unfit for public spaces because of her closeness to nature and lack of rationality. Some scientists also explicitly wrote that the societal division between the sexes was genetic and biological, thereby not changeable. Emancipatory efforts were an attempt to reverse nature itself, which would only punish those who tried (Johannisson, 1994:40-57).

Women as a subject in today's society is created through the current discursive practices and power structures, which emanates from the patriarchal societal structure and male dominance. Therefore, achieving emancipation is always mediated through how "woman" is constructed, and also limited by it. This created hierarchy between the sexes establishes the woman as subordinated, and it emanates from the man as the norm and the woman created in relation as a negation to him – "the Other" (Butler, 2007:51-53, 68-70; De Beauvoir, 2002:23-38). This hierarchy is internalized by women, it is a part of their genus-identity. To be a woman is to be subordinated. How masculinity manifests and expresses itself is the "correct way" of acting in the public sphere, and this sphere has a higher status than the private, whereas expressions of femininity are valued more. Therefore, the hierarchy between the sexes remains intact on a societal lever (Björk, 2018:63, 226, 234–235). This creation of physical difference's also entails that the opposing aspects of the sexes are being attributed unequal value. They are valued differently, which leads to political and social differences between men and women. It creates inequality on both an individual and societal level, which affect women's allocation of power and decision-making.

#### 4.2.2. Backlash

Backlash is a term which explains how patriarchal forces deliberately resist and with renewed determination try to suffocate different emancipatory successes for women. It is a way to ensure women's subordination, and a recurring reaction to every progress made (Cudd, 2002; Faludi, 1991:11; Mansbridge & Shames, 2008; Walby, 1993). Backlash is a global phenomenon and essentially the same in all national settings (Halperin-Kaddari & Freeman, 2016:184-185, 191-210). Societal changes create friction, which in its turn creates conflict – unavoidable if one wants to achieve change. Backlashes can be explained to consist of three components: they are a reaction to something someone has done; this reaction contains coercive power; and, the reaction seeks to reinstate part, or all, of one's former power. It is a process of dynamic resistance, and the usage of coercive power, to regain lost capacity to produce preferred outcomes of one's preferences or interests. Women pursuing equality could

be perceived as lost power by dominant groups, and the reaction to the power-shift can generate a backlash (Mansbridge & Shames, 2008:626-629). Backlash is also a reaction to lost advantages, which has been beneficial for the dominant groups, at the expense of the subordinated one's. To create actual justice, they have to be withdrawn, since they have contributed to inequality and been on the expense of another societal group (Cudd, 2002:8; Hawkesworth, 1999:141). The female body is closely connected to backlash, since backlash often targets reproductive rights and women's bodily autonomy. It is a way of punishing women for a behavior that challenges the gender status quo (Infanger, Rudman & Sczesny, 2016:110, 122).

#### 4.2.2.1. The Concept of Family

In the CSW<sup>9</sup>, and other transnational and national forums<sup>10</sup>, gender-neutral language is being practiced as a way to achieve equality. CSW are also currently having debates about narrowing the definition of family to one man being married to one (or more) woman, having children together. The value of family is described as protecting different morals and traditions, this implies norms such as traditional gender roles, heterosexuality and patriarchy and taken together with the gender-neutral language, it "hides" the problem and the fact that some societal issues derive from the inequal relationship between the sexes, such as men's violence against women. She becomes hidden in the neutral discourse, and these resolutions therefore lack attention of women's specific needs and actions to improve women's human rights. Therefore, the need for women's emancipatory struggles, and a more prominent political position, is also being secluded (Halperin-Kaddari & Freeman, 2016:184-185, 191-194, 202, 210; Hill Collins, 1998:62, 66).

The importance of family and its associated values are also prominent in an American context, as is the nuclear family's place in the public discourse, understandings of social institutions and policies are often constructed through family rhetoric's. Challenging it outright might be counterproductive if one tries to change societal norms and hierarchies (Hill Collins, 1998:63, 77). The family narrative, and its current, as well as historic, importance for

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CSW is a political forum established in 1946 which has hosted the four World Conferences on Women, and whereas the states represent themselves. CEDAW is in contrast a non-political forum, specifically dedicated to women's human rights and which speaks authoritatively on all issues related to equality in the family. CEDAW was drafted by the CSW on the World Conference on Women in 1975 (Halperin-Kaddari & Freeman, 2016:184-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See chapter 3.2.3. The Societal Circumstances.

limiting women's rights, is an alliance between diverse actors as a part of the current organization of right-wing movements acting transnationally (Cupać & Ebetürk, 2020:703). Nationalism can be described as an approved language where masculine skills are expressed and exercised, whereas sexual control and repression of women is justified. Men are supposed to protect the nation, and the women, a logic that has been especially present during wartimes (Alexander, 2011:373-374; Berglund, 2007:77, 306; Chodorow, 1978:10; Hill Collins, 1998:74). Womanly virtues are closely related to family values in this discourse, and the traditional role of the mother and wife in the private sphere giving birth to the nation's citizens. These virtues are also closely connected to democratic values, making the woman's behavior and role having a direct effect on the success of the American liberal democracy and market capitalism – the nation's future. The need of protecting the nation's future, by maintaining these norms and values, further conditions her political position (Boryczka, 2012:1-17; Berglund, 2007:304; Hill Collins, 1998:63, 66). Nationalism is tightly connected with the understanding of family, and this narrative is increasingly used by current right-wing movements, reinvigorating the discourse of reproducing the nation and thereby having a direct impact on women's reproductive freedom (Gozdecka, 2020:3). When women try to change their political position, or promote societal shifts towards equality, their morality and virtues are believed to be in danger and backlash is unleashed in order to re-establish the order and protect the nation and democracy (Boryczka, 2012:1-17).

The ability to control the size of the family improved women's situation historically, creating demographic shifts both historically and today (Faludi,1991:61-63, 69-70; Guillaume, & Rossier, 2018:218), but also bolstered backlash in the form of social campaigns that stigmatized childless women and abortion. The stigmatization was a way of undoing one part of life that women could control to attain emancipation. Family planning challenged men's social status and authority, thereby also challenging the patriarchal social order (Faludi,1991:61-63, 69-70). Controlling the woman's sexual and reproductive health is a way to maintain the patriarchal hierarchical society and is partly justified by the discourse of the importance of family (and in extension the preservation of the nation). Due to the hierarchy between the public and private sphere, women are perceived as second-class citizens. By practicing "proper" womanhood, controlling one's sexuality and reproducing children, women are being relegated to the societal periphery, having less political power, and is unable to attain full citizenship (Alexander, 2011:373-374; Berglund, 2007:77, 306; Chodorow, 1978:10; Hill Collins, 1998:74). The worst form of backlash is often triggered by demanding

too much change, in too short of a timeframe. The Supreme Court decision of Roe v. Wade can be interpreted as being such a demand by abortion opponents, since it was enforced nationwide without being preceded by changed senses of justice. This made it appear illegitimate for pro-life advocates, and generated widespread controversy surrounding abortion rights and a massive backlash, which still prevails today (Mansbridge & Shames, 2008:626-629).

Backlashes pinpoint that women lacks the power of making decisions over their own bodies (Ibid:70). It is an exercise of power that aims to maintain the gender system (Hirdman, 1997) and thereby also the privileges and advantages that this system allows certain groups (Cudd, 2002:8; Hawkesworth, 1999:141). Being underbuilt by a discourse surrounding the importance of family, and its correlation with the success of the American nation, this structuring of society, and backlashes, are justified. This indicates that the current backlash in the state of Ohio is not an isolated event, but rather part of a greater structure of repressing women's emancipatory achievements, since they challenge the patriarchal societal construct. It is a reaction to losing the privileges that men enjoy in this societal structure, threatened by women trying to attain power and the right to make decisions of their own.

#### 4.2.2.2. The Current Backlash

We are currently living in an era of growing far right populism and nationalism, such as the Trump administration. For conservative forces on the rise in Western democracies in general, there has been a revival of religious norms which are increasingly combined with nationalism. These populist movements are explicitly articulating a fascist, sexist and racist agenda. Once again, the importance of family values and norms are visible and embedded in the discourse. On a global level, there has been an anti-feminist backlash induced by conservative forces aiming to reinstate the understanding of "the natural family" and revoke women's rights — underbuilt by backlash politics (Cupać and Ebetürk, 2020:710-711). Brexit entailed a narrative which included notions of traditional family values, conventional gender roles and the defense of white national sovereignty (Franklin, 2019:51-52). In Germany, an anti-immigration rhetoric is employed which includes pressuring "native" white women to reproduce the nation. The US rhetoric's links guns, abortion, gender roles and family values to the importance of maintaining the threatened national belonging (Franklin & Ginsburg, 2019:4-6). The notions of fascism, sexism and racism are intertwined and lies at the very core of the conservative forces. As described above, the emphasis on the creation and longevity of

the nation is embodied in the notion of family – reproducing the sought-after societal values and producing the nations citizens. Reproductive rights are therefore a threat to traditional family norms and values, and this perceived threat is affecting women's reproductive freedom (Gozdecka, 2020:3).

That the current attempts to restrict abortion more generally in the US (Planned Parenthood, w.y.a; Ziegler, 2009:284), and particularly in the state of Ohio, are indeed a backlash, can be motivated with that they are fulfilling many of the characteristics of a backlash mentioned above: affecting women's reproductive freedom by targeting contraceptives and abortion by the usage of coercive power (Infanger et al, 2016:110, 122; Mansbridge & Shames, 2008:626-629). This society-wide backlash consists of both a return of traditional conservative narratives and a more general attack on women's rights, it is occurring in many UN contexts, many western democracies and particularly in the US (Gozdecka 2020:6; Sanders, 2018:273). Current attempts to undermine or overthrow Roe v. Wade, and thereby challenge long-fought-for legal guarantees of access to abortion encapsulated therein, are perceived as a backlash to women's emancipation (Gozdecka, 2020:1-2) which also is a part of this larger society-wide backlash.

The interplay between emancipation and backlashes also entails the probability of the election of Trump as a manifestation of the society-wide ongoing backlash against feminism and women in general (Tien, 2017:656-657). However, Trump's presidency has brought a number of occurrence's<sup>11</sup> which constitutes a backlash towards women both globally and in the US. These are perceived as deliberate attempts of limiting women's reproductive freedom and rights, implemented by President Trump and his administration, specific for his time and presidency (Chuang & Weisman, 2019:993; Gozdecka, 2020:9; Guttmacher Institute, w.y.). These actions especially target critical populations globally, such as services and rights for the LGBTQ+ community, immigrants and women, to support the Trump administration's domestic political goals (Guttmacher Institute, w.y). Another description of it is: "In the age of Donald Trump, women's reproductive bodies have become even more public and regulated canvases for moral narratives of women's worth as humans and for the state's claim to their bodies." (Sufrin, 2019:34).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See chapter 3.2.3. The Societal Circumstances.

# 5. Methodological considerations

The first part of this chapter consists of the method of analysis and its operationalization. The second part presents the empirical material that will be analyzed, how it was obtained and a source assessment. A subsection is also included on how to create a scientific and sound study when one cannot rely on concepts such as reliability and validity, which are typical for quantitative studies but not applicable on qualitative ones.

#### 5.1. Method of Analysis

In the field of social sciences, such as IAGG, the primary research object are the members of society and their internal relations. One of the most central areas of research within this field is power structures, but research on e.g., equality and conflict, is also important. This entails an interest in, and focus on, studying texts, since the language is perceived as the ultimate borderline for which actions, norms and values that are prevailing and approved within society (Bergström & Boréus, 2015:17, 45). By analyzing texts, what is not apparent at first sight can be revealed. One can either systematize the content of a text by classifying and logically structuring it, or critically review it by using methods such as critical discourse analysis, discourse psychology or discourse analysis (Esaiasson et al, 2012:210–212). The central objective and primary purpose of this study is to analyze the current restrictions of abortion rights in the state of Ohio and how this political discourse is constructed. Since the aim is to map what is not explicitly written, an adequate method to analyze the text with is required.

Discourse analysis is an umbrella term for various ways of approaching and analyzing a text, what these methods have in common that they seek to reveal and confront dominant discourses and ideologies. Discourse analysis entails having a critical stance, believing that nature is socially constructed, and that this construction is a part of all social action (Marshall & Rossman, 2016:25). An example of methods that exist under this umbrella term are; critique of ideas, aiming to derive if arguments in texts are coherent with decided norms; and ideology critique, trying to illustrate how certain societal conflicts are reflected in texts. Although both methods would be adequate for the chosen topic of this thesis, they lack the inclusion of power structures and its effects on reality which is of interest in this study. Discourse theory on the other hand, is a method that includes this analytical lens and perceives power as inherent in the language, since it presumes that reality is discursively

constructed and conditions human actions (Esaiasson et al, 2012:210–212). To use a method including an understanding of power is important for answering the second research question in this study, to interpret the political discourse of abortion and the consequences it will have on society and individuals.

#### 5.1.1. Discourse Theory

The chosen method of discourse analysis in this study is Laclau and Mouffe's discourse theory, with focus on the discursive practice articulation (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002). This method is suitable for analyzing political processes and how the content of the politics changes (Bergström & Boréus, 2015:370). Discourse theory originates from a structuralist and poststructuralist linguistic philosophy, and as other methods of discourse analysis it argues that our access to reality is always mediated through the language we use. This means that no objective reality or truth is believed to exist, instead, truth is produced intersubjectively. This production is mainly made through articulations, both of which reproduce and transform the discourse. This does not imply that reality does not exist as such, rather, it means that the discourse applies meaning to and constructs reality. The aim is to "close" the discourse, by fixating the meanings of words and excluding other understandings of them, with articulations. Some understandings of words seem "natural" because of a successful and widely accepted fixating of its meaning, other times there is struggle over the certain meaning of a word. Although, the closing of a discourse is always temporary, since the understanding of certain words can change, and because of the continuously ongoing struggle about which discourse that should be hegemonic. All social practices can be perceived as articulations, no distinction is being made between discourse and non-discourse, and therefore neither between discursive practices nor non-discursive practices (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002:8-9, 139, 144-146).

Every discourse has its own particulars, and by fixating one meaning alternative narratives are excluded. Exclusionary measures create a certain understanding of words and reality, thereby also determining what is true and what is false; different objects and subjects; and, what actions that are acceptable and which are not, within this particular discourse and thereby in society. One can also predict what social *consequences* this particular description of reality might result in. Articulations reproduce the discourse but are never an exact replica of former articulations, they always involve elements of change. The structure exists only in, and when, discursive practices such as articulations are performed. This creates a constant flow of

reproduction, and transformation, of the structure. When changes occur in discourses, the social world is consequently altered. *Change* as such can therefore be analyzed within this method since practice and structure are simultaneously examined in discourses (Ibid).

When discourses collide, conflict arises. Antagonism is an inherent part in discourses since there is an ongoing struggle of establishing one's discourse as hegemonic, defining the same terrain in conflicting ways, and for the time being unchallenged. Hegemony is achieved by exercising power and fixating meanings, antagonism undermines these efforts since it challenges meanings. Sometimes, it becomes evident that there is struggle over different actors' views on organizing society. For example, when women's emancipation provokes a backlash, in order to (re)install the patriarchal structuring of society. To be hegemonic also means that someone else is subordinated. Other times there are vague or no signs of struggle, since the social practices seem natural. In order to achieve this "natural reality", a hegemonic intervention can be unleashed, which forcefully erases ambiguities and establishes an "objective discourse". The exercise of power produces the desired social reality, constructing its particulars to appear objective and natural (Ibid:13, 25-30, 35-38, 47-51). Certain groups continued subordination can be achieved by reproducing this structure in institutions, for example in the school system or legal system. An individual's position in the structure is described as their *subject position*, and consists of many identities, for example be: working for a wage, a parent, a Christian, etcetera. These positions are related and affects each other, influencing the individual's identity, perception of reality, which actions they can and cannot do, and ability to exercise power (Bergström & Boréus, 2015:371-372).

#### 5.1.1.1. Operationalization of the Discourse Theory

The purpose of examining the bills with *discourse theory* is to discover how the political discourse of abortion is constructed, and what consequences this construction might have on society in general and women in particular. Text analysis can reveal underlying meanings and ideologies, and since reality is constructed through what words we use and what meaning they are attributed. The bills included in this study aim to prohibit abortion, but how this is to be achieved and the underpinning motivation, is yet to be revealed, which could be achieved with text analysis.

In order to map the construction of this discourse and investigate the motivation and ideology underpinning these bills, certain components of Laclau and Mouffe's *discourse theory* and the

discursive practice *articulation* will be operationalized. *Firstly*, the text analysis in this study will revolve around the identification of *nodal points*. These are privileged signifiers, words, of higher value in the discourse. By attaching other words to them, thereby fixating their meaning as well, they determine what the discourse consists of. When the meaning of a word is fixated it is called a *moment*, which is dependent and created in relation to the nodal point. By mapping nodal points and their associated moments, I can ascertain how abortion is organized discursively in the Ohio bills. The creation of moments strengthens and further structures the discourse, and is important for its success. This internal structure of the discourse, with moments ordered around nodal points are called *the chains of equivalence*, which will be analyzed *secondly*. They identify connected conceptions to the discourse, such as; if it is connected to a specific social arena; categories of individuals; and, what is excluded from it. They also answer questions such as: How has power produced the characteristics of the discourse (Ibid:13, 25-30, 35-38, 47-51)? *Lastly*, elements of *change* in the discourse will be examined. The internal structure of nodal points, moments and chains of equivalence in the bills, allows for a comparison of similarities and differences between them.

I will follow an abductive form of analysis in approaching the material in this study. It allows for the discovery of patterns, themes and categories in the data chosen, whilst still having an analytical framework to start from – such as the discourse theory method specified above. The abductive approach helps reveal certain aspects of the discourse, allowing both the more structured and the open-minded way of approaching the material work in interplay. This creates a greater flexibility for the researcher, being able to lean on an analytical framework, while at the same time allowing the material to "speak to you" (Marshall & Rossman, 2016:222). One quantitative element will be implemented in my method of analysis, and that is a word count. This is a way of measuring frequency of concepts and words, and adding to the transparency of the method of analysis. It will distinguish the centrality of concepts and words, and map which space they occupy in the text (Esaiasson et al, 2012:197-198). This word count has supported the identification of nodal points and elements in the text, as well as the examination of the chains of equivalence. A more informal and organic form of coding has also been incorporated in this analysis (Marshall & Rossman, 2016:222). The material was read several times and I used a simple color-coding to structure and organize it further. After the frequency of the words had been determined, this informal coding helped structure the text's inherent structure and hierarchy, to help distinguish the nodal points, moments and chains of equivalence. Nodal points were highlighted with purple, moments with green and

words that were recurring but hard to categorize, with yellow<sup>12</sup>. By following this procedure throughout all three bills I could structure the material and extract the results.

The three bills were firstly treated as three separate discourses, and thereafter analyzed as one. This allowed for finding similarities and differences between them, and particulars in the joint political discourse of abortion. This approach also permitted examining changes within the discourse. The abductive approach allowed me to have the discourse theory framework of nodal points and moments to focus and structure the analysis, but still allowing the material to affect the results based on what I found in it. By being both structured and flexible, the material could be revisited several times to identify articulations, count words and examine the chains of equivalence, and thereafter make comparisons and detect potential discursive changes.

This chart summarizes the findings made through the analytical framework, word count and informal coding, and displays the particulars of the discourse(s). It gives an overview of the results and the frequency of words. Further explanations and arguments for this mapping of the discourse(s), for example why some of the most frequently used words are not perceived as nodal points, is described in chapter *6. Results*.

HB69		
Signs	Words	Word count
Nodal Point	Unborn human individual	18
Moments	Fetal heartbeat	27
	Fetus	18
Chains of equivalence	Emphasizes the connection between	
	detecting a fetal heartbeat and the	
	probability of a live birth of the child.	
	Uses science as its main argument.	
	Appeals to the woman's morale,	
	establishing both incentives for	
	continuing the pregnancy and obstacles	
	for having an abortion.	
SB23		
Signs	Words	Word count

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  See example of the color coding in *Appendix 1*.

\_

Nodal Point	Pregnant woman	62
Excluded	Woman	10
Chains of equivalence	Actively ascribing "woman" features	
	such as motherhood and clearly states	
	that the preservation of her life is worth	
	less than the preservation of the fetus	
	life. Focus is on "the unborn human	
	individual" and the importance of	
	guarding its life.	
HB413		
Signs	Words	Word count
Nodal Point	Abortion	9, 18 <sup>13</sup>
Moment	Aggravated abortion murder	2, 163
Moment	Aggravated abortion murder  Abortion murder	2, 163 2, 129
Moment  Chains of equivalence		
	Abortion murder	
	Abortion murder  Abortion is countered with the ultimate	
	Abortion murder  Abortion is countered with the ultimate punishment, life imprisonment or death	
	Abortion murder  Abortion is countered with the ultimate punishment, life imprisonment or death penalty. This is an exercise of power that	

Fig. 1. Chart of findings from the text analysis.

#### 5.1.2. Critical Reflections of the Method of Analysis

The methodological framework chosen in this study is quite static, which means that the analysis will be highly structured by it. As mentioned above, in order to open up for themes and findings in the material, an abductive methodological approach has also been implemented (Marshall & Rossman, 2016:222). Having an abductive approach raises the question of *theoretical saturation*. Allowing the material to affect the analysis could obstruct the process of being satisfied with, and finalize, the data collection. Although, some patterns and findings will eventually repeat themselves, indicating that further data collection probably will not add anything new. Important then is to challenge these patterns, search for negative instances, and present them in the study as potential explanations to the studied phenomenon and also argue why these are not the most plausible (Ibid:228-229). In results, arguments for,

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> For HB413, the first number in the column "Word count" refers to the sections primarily analyzed in this bill, the second to the whole text.

and possible contradicting circumstances to, my conclusions, are included in order to create transparency and an openness about the interpretation of the material.

#### 5.2. Method of Data Collection

By studying official documents about prohibiting abortion, such as the introduced bills in Ohio, one can examine the political discourse and possibly detect what its intentions are.

#### 5.2.1. Empirical Material

The empirical material of this study consists of House Bill HB69 from 2015 (Prohibits Abortion Act, 2015), Senate Bill SB23 from February 2019 (Prohibit Abortion Act, 2019a), and House Bill HB413 from November 2019 (Define Offenses Act, 2019). They all aim to prohibit abortion, the first two relies on the relationship between detecting a fetal heartbeat and the probability of a live birth, whilst the last criminalizes and prohibits abortion nearly without any exceptions. Since 2011 the state of Ohio has tried to enact so called "Heartbeat Bills", aiming to prohibit abortion if a fetal heartbeat is detected: Generally Prohibit Abortion Act (2011); To Generally Prohibit Abortion (2014); Prohibits Abortion Act (HB69) (2015); Prohibit Abortion if Unborn has Detectable Heartbeat Act (2017); Prohibit Abortion Act (2019b), has either been vetoed or died in the process, whilst Prohibit Abortion Act (SB23) (2019a) was enrolled and supposed to turn into law but was stopped by a federal judge (Williams, 2019, December 4). Defines Offenses Act (HB413) (2019), also prohibits abortion but died in committee<sup>14</sup>. All these bills has been sponsored by Republican party members.

The selection of the empirical material itself could be somewhat problematic. To study a certain political party's discourse, or an expression of a political ideology, over time, can be made through text analyses of propositions, internal communication, the party's political program, etcetera. To distinguish the empirical material is important and has to be done in accordance with the purpose of the study and with a thought about what this selection will include/exclude, and how that will affect the outcome of the study (Bergström & Boréus, 2017:44). I have chosen to make a narrow selection, instead of including a multitude of materials. To focus on only bills during a limited time-period gives good insight in the political discourse expressed through these bills. But, if I had chosen to also include speeches

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Read more about the three bills constituting the empirical material in this study, in chapter 3.2.2. Legislative Reactions to Roe v. Wade in Ohio.

of politicians, tweets and/or debate articles, my results would perhaps have been different, given another insight in the studied case and a greater understanding for the circumstances and effects of the bills. However, a narrow selection is safer, and easier to handle due to the need of a thorough reading of the material due to the chosen method of this study. A larger selection would have demanded more resources. My choice can also be defined as critical and illustrative; that the chosen material is what it comes down to in this particular case (Esaiasson et al, 2012:162-163, 220-221). With my theoretical analysis I can say something about this particular case, which is interesting both for the research field of backlashes, and IAGG. This specific expression of the current society-wide backlash can be studied in great detail, and give an insight in how power and discourse produces the desired outcomes. In my case, many bills have been introduced attempting to prohibit abortion relying on the interconnection of a fetal heartbeat and the probability of a live birth. Due to the timelimitation I have made in this study, 2015-2019, based on the #MeToo movement and Donald Trump's presidency, and its direct and deliberate effects on women's reproductive rights (I have limited the empirical material to these three bills. HB69 is included since it was the last bill introduced before the presidency of Trump. The reason for why SB23 was included and HB68 excluded, is that they were introduced simultaneously, but HB68 died immediately whilst SB23 turned into law. I therefore perceive SB23 as a valid expression of the intentions of the current political discourse of abortion, and excluded HB68 in order to focus the study. HB413 is included, even though it died in the process, both because it was introduced so shortly after SB23, thereby adding to the current political discourse, but also since it is perceived as one of the most restrictive bills in decades (Williams, 2019, December 4). I believe this is highly interesting when examining change within a discourse and would probably provide interesting insight on the current expression of backlash in Ohio.

They were all originally downloaded from the state of Ohio's official website. However, this website does no longer function properly. The links now only leads to an error message stating that the server could not be found (The Ohio Legislature, w.y.). The bills were therefore instead downloaded from the website Legiscan, since they now are unattainable at the state of Ohio's official website. Legiscan is an impartial website which aims to democratize the access to, and understanding of, legislative documents (Legiscan, w.y.). These bills were chosen on the basis of relevance of this study's research questions, and the purpose of examining the political discourse of abortion in the state of Ohio. They are available in multiple versions, such as how they were first introduced and how they were

reported by the House Committee. All bills will be analyzed in the latest version available; this depends on how far it has come in the law-making process<sup>15</sup>. They were all downloaded in their original language, English. HB69 will be analyzed in its engrossed version; how it was passed by the House (Prohibits Abortion if Detectable Heartbeat Act, 2015). SB23 was enrolled, which is the retrieved version of that bill (Prohibit Abortion Act, 2019a). The final bill, HB413, died in the committee of Criminal Justice (Define Offenses Act, 2019) and will be analyzed in that version.

#### 5.2.1.1. Methodological Considerations of the Bills

This chapter explains how the bills have been handled methodologically, in order to create an understanding for the reader of the methodological and analytical process. In the bills, some sections are overlined, meaning that they are to be replaced with other formulations, which in most cases are presented right after as <u>underlined</u>. Overlined sections have not been included in the analysis or word count, thereby not constituting a part of the results. By excluding overlined sections I consequently map the operationalized political language, the discourse that is intended to be produced.

HB413 is a very long bill, over 700 pages, and describes various terms and conditions for different types of crimes, how these terms and conditions vary depending on the nature of the crime and correlating factors (for example if firearms were used, etcetera). It also includes various tasks, duties and codes of conduct within certain professions in relation to these of crimes. In most part, this bill states consequences if one violates any part of the Revised Code, and what circumstances or conditions that create different outcomes (Define Offenses Act, 2019). There are also many word indexes included, describing and defining terms, crimes and punishments<sup>16</sup>. In order to manage this large amount of text, the sections explicitly dealing with the issue of abortion has primarily been analyzed, which are section 2904.01,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The states have the same bicameral legislature as the US Congress, consisting of the House of Representatives and the Senate. They also have an independent court system and are in their right to decide upon their own organization as long as this does not go against the constitution (NE, w.y.b.). The main elements of the law-making process for bills in the states<sup>15</sup> are as follows: the idea of the bill is proposed. Either by a public official, the governor, an interest group, or similar. The bill gets sponsored by a legislator, either a Representative (from the House of Representatives, which is the larger chamber but the lower house) or a Senator<sup>15</sup> (from the Senate, the smaller chamber referred to as the upper house). If the bill advances through various readings and votes, and through both chambers, it is sent back to the Governor who might either sign it, do nothing or veto it. In the first two instances, the bill becomes law with or without the Governor's signature. If it is vetoed, the veto can be outmanoeuvred by the House of Representatives or the Senate if both chambers vote in a simple majority. The bill then becomes law, either the day it was passed or at an agreed-upon future date (IN.gov, 2001).

<sup>16</sup> See for example Define Offenses Act, 2019:433-438, 490-495.

2904.02, 2904.03, 2904.04, 2904.20, 2904.30, 2904.35 (Ibid:181-184). The analysis will be focused, but not limited, to these parts of the bill.

#### 5.2.2. A Scientific and Sound Study

In addition to constructing a framework and a methodological approach, the study aims to be scientific and sound. Absolute objectivity as a phenomenon is rejected in social constructionist studies, since everything is believed to be discursively constructed. There is some critique directed towards discourse analysis and the chosen method of this study, discourse theory. Laclau & Mouffe (Martin, 2013) points out that the researcher is always a part of the theories applied to the study, and is highly influenced by discursive practices and one's own knowledge, norms, morale and values. To distance oneself from the discourse is impossible, since everything is discursively constructed. This entails a lack of transparency that has to be acknowledged. Similar to how discourses momentarily close themselves and fixate their meaning, establishing a temporary truth, the critical point of departure for social constructionist research also means that this produced representation excludes other possible representations. My representation of the political discourse of abortion will be somewhat subjective and partial. The result is therefore always an articulation, either reproducing or questioning, the examined discourse (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002:175-178). Still, the lack of transparency and objectivity does not mean that one is only producing data in accordance with one's own beliefs and values. Rather, one must be aware of the issues with a lack of transparency and one's own positioning. The researcher must have solid knowledge of the field (Ibid) and apply measures of self-reflexivity (Tracy, 2010:837-840, 848).

Also, concepts of *trustworthiness* can be applied to create a scientifically sound study, promoting the data's trustworthiness, the researcher's credibility and the general applicability to the world, as well as help communicate the value of the qualitative work. These are *credibility*: which ensures that the research is carried out in good practice, adding to the soundness and rich rigor of the study. To create credibility in this study chapter 5.1.1.1. *Operationalization of the Discourse Theory* is included to explain how the multiple methods have been operationalized and interacts with each other. To further strengthen the credibility of this study, *triangulation*, the routine of having multiple sources of theoretical perspectives, methodologies and data, has been utilized to create independency of statements and facts. *Dependability*: includes keeping records of the research process and creating resonance by explaining this to the reader in such a way that arguments and findings can easily be followed

and understood. *Confirmability*: is an attempt to create "objective" results by showing why made inferences are logical, and if interpretations make sense by peers. It is about acting in good faith, being transparent of how the methods have been operationalized, and utilizing the other principles mentioned above. In this study a majority of the statements, the historical background and the perception of the societal structure leans on peers and multiple sources. The chosen method entails being critical of both sources and data, and I have tried to implement these principles, the inherent critical approach and self-reflexivity, to fulfil the confirmability of this study. *Transferability:* by being transparent and thorough with explaining the logic behind arguments and the operationalization of the method, the study could be useful to other studies which has similar research questions and methods of analysis, even though this study examines a specific case and since qualitative studies generally are non-replicable. This is achieved by relying on many details and sources concerning the topic, and the inclusion of a rigorous chapter of previous research (Marshall & Rossman, 2016:46-48, 260-263).

#### 5.2.2.1. Ethical Considerations

As mentioned above, a researcher conducting a study with the method of discourse theory is always to some extent making an articulation, either reproducing a discourse or questioning it (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002:175-178). My ontological and ideological point of departure in this study is (post)structuralist, which inherently implies a critical perspective. What is also important to bear in mind is that one must create a complete theoretical package, theory and method are inseparably intertwined in discourse analysis. There must be coherence between one's epistemological, ontological, theoretical and methodological assumptions (Marshall & Rossman, 2016:25).

My feminist stance and view on society as being a patriarchal structure could affect the results, and to some extent reproduce the patriarchal societal structure, the political discourse of abortion and/or my critical view of it. I must therefore be particularly cautious about letting my own opinions and views influence the interpretation of the material, as well as the produced results. The main principles of feminist research ethics include examining elements of power, relationships, inclusion and exclusion, and the situatedness of the researcher (Ackerly & True, 2010:48). This study aims to adhere to these principles, and by also applying aforementioned elements of creating a scientific and sound study, a contribution is made to the ethics of the study. These elements create trustworthiness when taken into

consideration. When making statements about the societal order, or power relations between the sexes, I lean on peers and multiple sources to add to the credibility and confirmability of the study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016:15, 51). To avoid merely reproducing the political discourse of abortion studied in this thesis, I have included facts and statistics on the subject from primary and credible sources such as the WHO, UNTC and NE. I have also given an overview of the policies and implementation of policies of abortion both internationally, nationally and locally<sup>17</sup>.

By incorporating principles and elements, together with practicing self-reflexivity, I improve my empirical research by revisiting it, and critically analyzing it, in relation to my own knowledge and prejudices (Alvesson & Sköldberg, 2018:382; Tracy, 2010:837-840, 848). Applicating them to how the study is conducted paves way for transparency and trustworthiness, if they are operationalized and not merely mentioned (Marshall & Rossman, 2016:15, 51; Tracy, 2010:837-840, 848).

#### 5.2.3. Source Assessment

In order to properly assess the sources used as empirical material, the three bills, I have applied four principles of assessing the chosen sources. These are *authenticity, time, independency,* and *tendency.* The bills are official documents. The principle of time is in this case important in relation to the research problem in this study, which is to analyze the current discourse of abortion. I have therefore examined contemporary bills, and made a clear delimitation through a timeline and other societal circumstances. Being official documents, the bills can also be claimed to fulfill the principle of independency (Thurén, 2013:7-75) in addition to being primary sources (Leth & Thurén, 2000:23). I have not analyzed replicas or summaries of the bills. Lastly, the bills cannot be claimed to not have tendency, or not to be biased. Official sources, such as governmental websites or bills, are tendentious since they in many cases represent one political party's values and interests, and also since all sources can be claimed to have tendency to some extent (Ibid:28-30). They represent a certain ideology and wants to construct a certain societal structure, facts and statistics in them might therefore also have tendency. The inclusion might be one-sided, and contradictory results be excluded (Thurén, 2013:7-75).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See chapter 1. Introduction and 3. Background.

#### 6. Results

In this chapter, the results of the discourse analysis will be presented. The bills HB69, SB23 and HB413 will first be analyzed separately, in accordance with the analytical framework outlined above in chapter 5.2.2.1. Operationalization of the discourse theory. Focus will be on mapping articulations, starting with the identification of nodal points, followed by associated moments and lastly examining the chains of equivalence which gives an idea of which actions that are permitted, what societal realms it affects and how power is distributed – pinpointing the consequences of the discourse.

The general content of the bills will be presented briefly for context, but the focus will be on mapping and structuring their content. The bills will be analyzed in accordance with the year of their introduction, oldest to newest: HB69 first, followed by SB23 and lastly HB413. After their separate analysis's a compilation of the findings in the bills will be made, and an analysis of the three as components of one discourse, in order to grasp the full image of the political discourse regarding abortion articulated in these bills and to answer the first research question:

• How is the political discourse of abortion in the state of Ohio constructed and has this construction changed?

#### 6.1. Results of HB69

In HB69 it is proposed that abortion should be prohibited after a fetal heartbeat is detected. Exceptions to this rule are applied, for example when the woman's life is in danger. The physician's course of action and demands on documentation are clearly stated too. If an abortion is induced without controlling if there is a fetal heartbeat, the physician could be charged with a fifth-degree felony (Prohibits Abortion Act, 2015:18).

HB69			
Signifiers	Words	Word count	Explanation
Nodal Point	Unborn human individual	18	Paraphrasing of fetus. An articulation with the purpose of appealing to one's feelings and morale.
Moments	Fetal heartbeat	27	The denominator of when the fetus is probable to a live birth. Used as an argument to prohibit abortion.
	Fetus	18	Mainly used in medical explanations or when one has decided to have an abortion.
Chains of equivalence			Emphasizes the connection between detecting a fetal heartbeat and the probability of a live birth of the child. Uses science as its main argument. Appeals to the woman's morale, establishing both incentives for continuing the pregnancy and obstacles for having an abortion.

Fig. 2. Chart of findings from the text analysis.

#### Nodal point

I would claim that the nodal point in this text is "unborn human individual". This paraphrasing of the word fetus is a way to underline what exactly is being aborted when one chooses this medical procedure. This phrase is also presented in the very first sentence in this bill:

"[...] to generally prohibit an abortion of an <u>unborn human individual<sup>18</sup></u> with a detectable heartbeat [...]." (Prohibits Abortion Act, 2015:1).

This term is being articulated recurrently throughout the bill. "Unborn human individual" effectively shifts focus from the fetus as a bundle of cells, which is non-viable outside the womb, to the human being it could become if the pregnancy was carried through full-term – accentuating its potential personhood. The paraphrasing demonstrates the desired perception and interpretation of the bundle of cells. By using another set of words, a struggle over what

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> All underlining's in excerpts of the bills are made by the author of this study, to emphasize signifiers and to create clarity about what articulation is being made and in what context.

the inherent meaning of fetus should be could be avoided, which could be an explanation for this paraphrasing. By articulating the phrase recurrently, the use of it and its meaning is consolidated. "Fetus" could be inter-changeable with "unborn human individual", both could be used in order to describe the bundle of cells in the womb. In a word index the two terms are defined:

"[...] "Unborn human individual" means an individual organism of the species homo sapiens from fertilization until live birth." (Prohibits Abortion Act, 2015:12).

#### And:

""Fetus" means the human offspring developing during pregnancy from the moment of conception and includes the embryonic stage of development" (Prohibits Abortion Act, 2015:11).

The definitions of the two are similar, and this could be another explanation for the importance of keeping them apart. The paraphrasing is needed to accentuate the "true meaning" of the bundle of cells. This discursive practice of replacing "fetus", with "unborn human individual", is a way of emphasizing the potential life of a child, and its personhood, and thereby attempting to discourage abortion. This discursive shift lies, as I would claim, at the very core of this discourse. It excludes more "technical" or "medical" terms, and is instead trying to appeal to a person's feelings and morale by accentuating that it is a potential human life being aborted. Therefore, these terms are not inter-changeable in this particular discourse, the paraphrasing of fetus fulfils an important purpose.

#### Moments

The term "unborn human individual" is written 18 times throughout the text, often in consort with the term "fetal heartbeat". This term is used 27 times, of which 15 cases consorts "unborn human individual". Being in consort is here defined as being present in the same sentence, sometimes multiple times, without a punctuation separating it from the nodal point. The connection between the two is made in the very first sentence in this bill, but with the somewhat synonymous: "detectable heartbeat" (Ibid:1). Since this bill is a proposal of prohibiting abortion after a detectable heartbeat, "unborn human individual" and "fetal heartbeat" are intertwined and interdependent, mutually constituting each other's meaning and the structure of the discourse.

Based on frequency, "fetal heartbeat", which occurs 27 times, could also be the nodal point in this text. But, as mentioned above, this term is mostly used in consort of "unborn human individual", indicating that "fetal heartbeat" is dependent on the meaning of "unborn human individual" and is ordered in relation to the understanding of this phrase (Ibid). If the term "fetal heartbeat" was the nodal point, the underlying understanding of the potentially lost life, would be lost. Therefore, I would still claim that the nodal point is "unborn human individual", since this term effectively shifts the focus from the non-viable fetus to the potential human that could be born. "Fetal heartbeat" fortifies the discursive shift of focusing on the potential life, and excluding its current non-viability, in order to motivate the prohibition of abortion. It is an articulation that sets the tone of the text. This discursive shift also points to what the intentions of the bill are and what ideology they might emanate from.

By creating an interdependence between "unborn human individual" and "fetal heartbeat" there is an additional incentive to discourage abortion, besides appealing to a person's feelings and morale, created in the discourse; arguments backed by science. The bill presents statistical facts of the probability of miscarriage after a fetal heartbeat is detected, which is less than 5%. Also, 90% survives the first trimester when a fetal heartbeat has been detected. That is another probable explanation to why "fetal heartbeat" often is in consort with "unborn human individual", and why these two terms are so closely connected. It leads to this conclusion:

"<u>Fetal heartbeat</u>, therefore, has become a key medical predictor that an <u>unborn human</u> individual will reach live birth." (Prohibits Abortion Act, 2015:14).

#### Chains of equivalence

One circumstance that undermines my claim that "unborn human individual" is the nodal point of this text, is that the word "fetus" also occurs 18 times throughout the text. In some cases, the word fetus is used in the text in order to describe the human offspring instead of the identified nodal point. In order to further support my claim that "unborn human individual" is the nodal point in this text, despite occurring at the same frequency as "fetus", I have mapped the contexts in which the two phrases are most commonly used. By this mapping of the chains of equivalence, an understanding is created for which settings they adhere to, what values they represent and for what purposes they are being used. I will exemplify this by presenting two quotes. "Unborn human individual" is connected to the potential individual that could be born, whilst "fetus" is used mostly in technical and descriptive parts of the text.

"[...] that the unborn human individual the pregnant woman is carrying has a fetal heartbeat and that the pregnant woman is aware of the statistical probability of bringing the unborn human individual the pregnant woman is carrying to term." (Prohibits Abortion Act, 2015:19-20).

This quote embodies how the relationship between "unborn human individual" and "fetal heartbeat" is made. Emphasis is being put on the pregnant woman, carrying another human, and the probability of this human being born alive. The argument being made is that the scientific connection between a detected heartbeat and the probability of a pregnancy going full term, is a clear incentive of continuing the pregnancy. The chains of equivalence can be said to connect these two terms to other concepts such as life, viability, a certain morale and an attempt to discourage abortion since the detected "fetal heartbeat" indicates that the "unborn human individual" most probably will be born alive.

"Materials that inform the pregnant woman of the probable anatomical and physiological characteristics of the zygote, blastocyte, embryo, or <u>fetus</u> at two-week <u>gestational</u> increments for the first sixteen weeks of pregnancy and at four- week <u>gestational</u> increments from the seventeenth week of pregnancy to full term, including any relevant information regarding the time at which the <u>fetus</u> possibly would be viable." (Prohibits Abortion Act, 2015:5).

The word "fetus" is on the other hand often accompanied by the term "gestational", and other medical and technical terms. "Fetus" is being used in more descriptive, technical and explanatory parts of the text and when one has decided to actually have an abortion. For example, this is shown in a word index and when describing what materials the pregnant woman who wants an abortion shall be given, as stated in the quote above (Ibid:3, 5, 11-12). In contrast to the term "unborn human individual", which appeals to one's feelings of right and wrong, "fetus" is a technical term which is used when this appeal to one's morale has "failed", and an abortion is an actuality. What is right, and what is wrong, in this discourse is being established (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002). The two terms are clearly separated from one another, and are divided into two different parts of this discourse.

# 6.2. Results of SB23

This bill also aims to prohibit abortion after a fetal heartbeat is detected. It was enacted and supposed to turn into law in July 2019, but was stopped by a federal judge (Williams, 2019, December 4). Many formulations in this bill are exact replicas of the excerpts above from

HB69, such as: the definition of the word fetus (Prohibit Abortion Act, 2019a:5); the definition of the term "unborn human individual" (Ibid:6), the statement about the correlation between a fetal heartbeat and the probability of a live birth (Ibid:24); as well as the information about what material that should be provided if one decides to have an abortion (Ibid:3). These repetitions will not be examined further in this analysis of SB23, other than adding to the mapping of the discourse that a reproduction of certain articulations occurs.

SB23			
Signifiers	Words	Word count	Explanation
Nodal Point	Pregnant woman	62	Being a woman is tightly connected with being pregnant.  This is the main way in which a woman is described in this text,
			as pregnant.
Excluded	Woman	10	Appears almost exclusively in relation to descriptions of pregnancy, or in consort of "pregnant woman". Also used when it is described that the state of Ohio rather protects the life of the unborn than the woman.
Chains of equivalence			Actively ascribing "woman" features such as motherhood and clearly states that the preservation of her life is worth less than the preservation of the fetus life. Focus is on "the unborn human individual" and the importance of guarding its life.

Fig. 3. Chart of findings from the text analysis.

#### Nodal point

Despite the reproduction of certain articulations, I claim that the nodal point in SB23 is "pregnant woman" instead of "unborn human individual". My argument is that the pregnant woman is at the center of interest in this bill, with emphasis on her being pregnant, rather than being a woman. She is the one who shall be informed about family planning and adoption options, as well as how the fetus looks in various stages of development (Ibid:2-3). The pregnancy is the main denominator of her identity throughout this text.

"Pregnant woman" is written 62 times, whilst simply "woman" is written 10 times. The latter is exclusively used in the same sentence as "pregnant woman" or in descriptions of pregnancy: describing when a woman needs to have an abortion due to a medical necessity (Ibid:1); in a section describing the duties of the physician after an abortion is performed (Ibid:5); twice in a sentence defining what a pregnancy is (Ibid:6); in one section describing what "standard medical practice" is and how to determine the condition of the "[...] woman and her pregnancy" (Prohibit Abortion Act, 2019a:6); four times in a section determining when a woman can file for civil action and what forms of retribution she can receive (Ibid:10-11); and lastly in a section which will be presented as a quote:

"The State of Ohio has a <u>valid</u> interest in protecting the health of the woman. The State of Ohio has a <u>compelling</u> interest in protecting the life of an unborn human individual who may be born." (Prohibit Abortion Act, 2019a:24).

In addition to this mere difference in frequency, this section explicitly states what the state of Ohio values more. They claim to have a <u>valid</u> interest in protecting the woman's health, but a <u>compelling</u> interest in protecting the life of the "unborn human individual". Compelling is a term which is explicitly stating that the state of Ohio is more inclined to protect the one who is yet to be born and currently lacks viability<sup>19</sup>, rather than the one who is already alive. The awareness of whom is more "alive" is also clearly stated, since the sentence about the "unborn human individual" is finished with the words "who may be born" (Ibid:24). This positioning of who's life that should be preserved is what permeates this text, and is my main argument for why "pregnant woman" is the nodal point. The articulations revolve around the pregnancy as such, and emphasizes that the "unborn human individual" should be carried full term.

#### Moments

The detection of moments in this text is not as easily determined as was in the case of HB69. However, the construction of a discourse is also determined by what is excluded. In this case it is clear that "woman" is not given any meaning in itself, or rather that "pregnant woman"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> A pregnancy lasts 38 weeks, children born before week 37 are defined as born early, and if they are born before week 36, they often need some sort of medical attention. Week 22 is the earliest a child can be born and survive; they are usually cared for at a neonatal ward where they stay until the week they should have been born. Most organs are underdeveloped, and they need help for example to get nutrition, breath and keep their warmth (1177, w.y.).

embodies a more sought-after identity for a woman. One can claim that women without children, or women who are either considering or are performing an abortion, are not included and/or accepted in this discourse. By excluding this alternative understanding of woman, a particular view on how society should be structured is manifested and whereas the action of abortion is unacceptable (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002). Articulations which are connecting "woman" to being pregnant, adds to the creation of banning abortion. The discursive practices condemning abortion are complemented with practical hinders of having one, such routinely providing materials showing the features of the fetus, and information about its estimated viability (Prohibit Abortion Act, 2019a:3). Complicating the process of having an abortion adds to the aim of prohibiting it, it is an act of power that attempts to force women to comply.

#### Chains of equivalence

There is a clear distinction of when the term "pregnant woman" is used, and when "woman" is used. As presented above, "woman" is used in the same sentence as "pregnant woman" or when a pregnancy is defined or described (Ibid:1, 6). But, the other examples are more telling as to how this distinction is made and the word "woman" is used, which is either in cases were an abortion is an actuality or when the woman is being contrasted to the fetus. As exemplified in the quote above, the state of Ohio clearly states that the woman's life is valued less than the fetus'. And in cases of comparison between the woman and the fetus, she is reduced to being a "woman" instead of a "pregnant woman" (Ibid). This could be interpreted as a dehumanization is taking place of the "woman", when former attempts of emphasizing the humanity of the "unborn human individual" have failed. The majority of the articulations made in this text redirects the focus from the woman and her current life, to the importance of preserving the life who may be born. Being pregnant is ascribed more worth than just being a woman. These articulations, tightly connecting the woman to being pregnant and excluding the understanding of an individual woman without children, or who wants an abortion, adds to the practice of determining what actions are allowed or not, and further structures the desired reality (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002).

#### 6.3. Results of HB413

As the former bills, HB413 also wants to prohibit abortion. The most noteworthy differences in this bill are that it does not rely on the connection between a fetal heartbeat and probable

live birth, and it creates two new felonies: *aggravated abortion murder* and *abortion murder*, which could lead to life imprisonment and/or the death penalty (Gillett, 2019, November 29). These two terms are frequently used throughout the bill, but mostly occurring in word indexes defining crimes and their consequences. Many components in this text add to the condemnation of abortion, applying severer articulations and heavily criminalizes it.

HB413			
Signifiers	Words	Word count	Explanation
Nodal Point	Abortion	9, 18 <sup>20</sup>	No paraphrasing used, written explicitly or in combination with other words.
Moment	Aggravated abortion murder	2, 163	-  -
	Abortion murder	2, 129	-  -
Excluded	Fetal heartbeat		
Chains of equivalence			Countering abortion with the ultimate punishment, life imprisonment or death penalty. This is an exercise of power that could establish the discourse as hegemonic, effectively prohibiting abortion.

Fig. 4. Chart of findings from the text analysis.

Nodal point

Section 2904.01 in this bill begins with the phrase:

"This chapter supersedes all conflicting provisions of the Revised Code regarding abortion.

No state funds [or contract] shall be disbursed [or enforced] that would support a violation of this chapter [...]." (Define Offenses Act, 2019:181-182).

This excerpt explicitly states the aim of this bill, to erase ambiguities and ultimately prohibit abortion. Articulations throughout this text are continuously this explicit, and I therefore claim that the nodal point in this text is "abortion". My argument is built upon the recurring articulation of the word throughout the text, both in the terms "aggravated abortion murder"

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> In this chart, the first number in the column "Word count" refers to the sections primarily analyzed in this bill, the second to the whole text.

and "abortion murder", and the explicit mentioning of abortion. There is no paraphrasing, no inclusion of scientific arguments, no appeal to a person's morale and the threat of losing one's own life if having an abortion is constantly imminent (Ibid).

As shown in the quote above, this bill would supersede all previous laws regarding abortion. In addition, abortion is to be forbidden almost completely, as will be presented below. The nodal point "abortion" in this text entails a negative stance towards it, and this is expressed very explicitly. This, as well as the emphasis on the unlawfulness of having or performing an abortion, is manifested in these quotes:

"2904.03. No person shall purposely, and with prior calculation and design, perform or have an abortion." (Define Offenses Act, 2019:182).

Followed by:

"Whoever violates this section is guilty of aggravated abortion murder and shall be punished as provided in section 2929.02 of the Revised Code." (Define Offenses Act, 2019:183).

This part of the Revised Code states that:

"Whoever is convicted of or pleads guilty [to] aggravated abortion murder in violation of section 2904.03 of the Revised Code shall suffer death or be imprisoned for life [...].."

(Define Offenses Act, 2019:238).

Some exceptions to this are then listed, as well as how the punishment should be distributed (Ibid:238-239). In the excerpt above, there is a referral back to section 2904.03 which states that no person should perform or have an abortion. If they do, both the woman and the physician could be charged with life imprisonment or the death penalty. My purpose of displaying these quotes is to underline how explicitly this bill condemns and forbids abortion, and to motivate why "abortion" is this text's nodal point. By creating the possibility of charging the woman and the physician with the death penalty for having or performing an abortion, it is implicitly stated whose life is more important to protect – the fetus'. This discourse revolves around prohibiting abortion, operationalizing the ultimate punishment of the death penalty as a final threat.

#### Moments

"Aggravated abortion murder" is used 163 times throughout this entire bill, and "abortion murder" 129 times (Ibid). Despite the frequent utilization of these terms, I would not claim that they are the nodal points of this bill. Rather, they are important moments which structure the chains of equivalence. Even though they are frequently used throughout the text, they are mostly used as add-ons to enumerations of crimes instead of being in the center of an articulation. Their primary function in this discourse is that they fortify the severity of having an abortion. Together with the quotes above (Ibid), they constitute a very clear and distinct criminalization of abortion but are not self-explanatory. In company of abortion perceived as something negative, and the information about whom could be charged for these crimes, they help to fixate the meaning of abortion and further structure the discourse.

### Chains of equivalence

As mentioned above, the two felonies introduced in this bill structure the chains of equivalence by clearly condemning abortion and defining it as an unaccepted action. There are no harder punishments than to threaten to take the life of one's citizens, a clear exercise of power. I argue that this can be interpreted as an attempt to achieve a *hegemonic intervention* (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002), erasing all ambiguities regarding interpretations of the term "abortion" and ensuring the success of the discourse by introducing a consequence which should definitely discourage one from having/performing an abortion. This exercise of power could make the discourse hegemonic. If successful, the discourse could in time be perceived as objective and the desired social reality experienced as natural, forcing the state of Ohio's citizens to comply (Ibid).

#### 6.4. Construction of the Political Discourse

In this section, a compilation of the results from the bills will be made to create an understanding and overall picture of the joint political discourse of abortion in the state of Ohio. This contributes to understanding the discourse's construction, the underlying motivation and answering the first research question. Whom is being applied rights and in what manner, will also be examined.

#### 6.4.1. The Joint Discourse

These three bills are part of the same discourse, which evolves around the phenomenon "abortion". They have their internal differences, which stems from various articulations creating their individual nodal points, moments and chains of equivalence. The construction of the discourse aims to create a certain reality, whereas the main tool of achieving it is by successfully prohibiting abortion. The whole discourse revolves around the prohibition of abortion, but what exact social reality this is supposed to create, or why, is not entirely apparent.

The joint discourse	
Signifiers	Words
Nodal Point(s)	Abortion
Moments	Unborn human individual, Pregnant woman, Fetal
	heartbeat, Aggravated abortion murder, Abortion
	murder
Excluded	Woman
Chains of equivalence	Stating that abortion is unwanted and unaccepted, the
	fetus life is worth more than the woman's which is both
	expressed in for whom one is more willing to protect
	and in the introduction of life imprisonment or the death
	penalty for having/performing an abortion. Power is
	exercised to guarantee conformity.

Fig. 4. Chart of the joint discourse.

#### Nodal point & moments

I would claim that the nodal point for the joint discourse is "abortion", based on the findings of the bills. Abortion, and more specifically its prohibition, is what everything revolves around. The nodal points identified in respective bill can instead be comprehended as moments in this extended discourse of abortion. They further fixate and consolidate the sought-after meaning of the term abortion – as something unwanted and unaccepted.

#### Chains of equivalence

The social reality attempted to be created through the chains of equivalence is one where there are nearly no abortions, this is to be achieved in different ways in the bills: HB69 uses paraphrasing's and appeals to one's moral; SB23 defines the woman as pregnant ad excludes other meanings; and, HB413 heavily criminalizes both having and performing an abortion. In

addition, taken together this mapping of the construction of the discourse shows that the bills implicitly, and explicitly, perceives the fetus as being more entitled to its life than the woman. This understanding is permeated in the various articulations, but also explicitly written in some parts of the text (Prohibit Abortion Act, 2019a:24) and demonstrated by the creation of two new felonies in HB413, stating that having an abortion could be punished with the loss of your own life (Define Offenses Act, 2019:238). I perceive these two articulations as main findings; they are clearly demonstrating the importance of preserving the life of the fetus and to ensure this the threat of convicting someone to death is operationalized. However, why the life of the fetus is more protected is not yet clear, which will be elaborated further in the two following chapters.

This overview of the combined discourse also provides an illustration of changes within the discourse. The discursive tone has clearly changed, and the attempt to prohibit abortion no longer relies on persuading the individual with scientific arguments, paraphrasing's, or appeals to one's morale. The prohibition of abortion is now to be ensured with severe criminalization of having or performing the procedure, threatening with life imprisonment or the death penalty. This discursive change will be discussed more thoroughly in the next chapter.

# 7. Discursive Change

This section will contain a more thorough examination of the detected changes in the political discourse of abortion in Ohio, which was illustrated in the previous chapter. Potential explanations for these changes are also presented, in order to further explore why they might have occurred. This is interesting since a discursive change that coincides with a societal trend, circumstance or happening, could indicate some sort of relation between the two. As a continuation of chapter *6. Results*, this chapter aims to complete answering the first research question:

• How is the political discourse of abortion in the state of Ohio constructed and has this construction changed?

# 7.1. Discussion of Change

The political discourse of abortion in the state of Ohio has changed during the time-period when the empirical material this study examines, the Ohio bills, were introduced. Based on the results of the discourse analysis of the three bills, it is apparent that the tone in the discourse has changed. Having evolved from providing scientific argument's, paraphrasing's, appealing to a person's feelings and morale, or creating certain identities for women (Prohibits Abortion Act, 2015; Prohibit Abortion Act, 2019a), to threatening with life imprisonment or the death penalty. In HB413 is these arguments not included at all, neither is a reasoning behind the prohibition (Define Offenses Act, 2019). In previous bills explanations, facts and reasonings, has been an important part of building the argument and motivating why abortion should be prohibited. My perception is that the discourse has grown harsher and more explicit.

#### Differences Between the Bills

However, articulations in a discourse are always reproducing earlier articulations, but are never an exact replica – therefore changes occur (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002). In the case of the Ohio bills, the differences between how the texts are structured differs a lot between the two first bills (HB69 and SB23), and the last (HB413). The articulations do not seem very similar at all, since HB413 have not included nearly any of the arguments and/or discursive practices present in the two first bills. But perhaps this change is not as significant as it first seems.

Firstly, one must keep in mind that all three bills are part of the larger political discourse of abortion in Ohio. They are not supposed to be understood isolated from another, rather, they are all expressions and articulations in the larger political discourse of abortion. I claim that all three bills emanate from a certain ideology and attempts to create a specific social reality. All three have been sponsored by Republican politicians (Prohibits Abortion Act, 2015; Prohibit Abortion, 2019; Define Offenses, 2019), indicating that the ideas of the pro-life ideology<sup>21</sup> permeates them all. HB413 does not explain why abortion should be prohibited, perhaps because these arguments already are present and well-known in this discourse, alongside the well-established central concept of abortion as something unwanted and wrong. The exclusion of these arguments could indicate that the discourse has been successful in fixating meanings and excluding alternative narratives, i.e., that the perception of abortion as something wrong does not have to be argued for anymore, its meaning is fixed.

Secondly, the bills full names give an indication of the purposes of their introduction. The first two almost have the same name: HB69 is called *Prohibits Abortion if Detectable Heartbeat Act* (2015), and SB23 *Prohibit Abortion if Detectable Heartbeat Act* (2019). HB413's full name is *Define Offenses: Aggravated Abortion Murder and Abortion Murder Act* (2019). The two former relies on the scientific evidence of the correlation between a detected fetal heartbeat and a live birth, whilst the latter's purpose is to define offenses. These differences are also visible in the results of the text analyses of the three bills. Their internal differences apart, if the two former bills had not been introduced and these particulars of the political discourse of abortion established<sup>22</sup>, the purpose and logic of HB413 would not have been as apparent, neither would the understanding of why abortion is wrong and why it should be prohibited.

#### Potential Explanations to the Discursive Change

I have argued for that there is an apparent discursive change, and that the discourse now includes harsh methods to persuade individuals to comply with its goal. I believe that this development can be explained in two ways. *The first* is, as was briefly mentioned above<sup>23</sup>, that this criminalization is an attempt of unleashing a *hegemonic intervention*. It is a forceful

<sup>2</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See description of historical alignment of the pro-life ideology and the Republican political party in chapter *1*. *Introduction*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Also by the former introduction of Heart Beat bills in Ohio. See chapter 5.2.1. Empirical Material.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See *Chains of equivalence* in chapter 6.3. Results of HB413.

exercise of power attempting to erase ambiguities, in order to establish the discourse as hegemonic, natural and uncontested and thereby creating the desired social reality. By introducing the possibility of being charged with murder, women could be forced into complying with the ideology underpinning the discourse. If successful, competing discourses and resistance would evaporate and this discourse would for the time being be uncontested (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002). *The other* explanation could be that the possibility of expressing oneself like this is enabled through coincided occurrences. It could be societal changes, political changes or other shifting circumstances, which allows for this more explicit expression of a certain ideology or opinion. The aim is however still to create compliance.

As mentioned previously, some shifts of this nature have been occurring both on the global arena through the promotion of family values and the revoking of women's rights (Cupać & Ebetürk, 2020; Sanders, 2018), and in the US, mainly by attempts to undermine or overturn Roe v. Wade. The Trump administration have taken measures to restrict women's reproductive freedom, both transnationally and domestically<sup>24</sup>. In addition, the #Metoo movement in 2017 with its uncovering of unequal power structures and the consequence's this had for men (Cherniavsky, 2019:11, 18; HRW, 2020) could have been interpreted as such a threat to male privileges that it provoked, or fueled, a backlash. This is a part of a general ongoing society-wide backlash directed against women's reproductive rights (Sanders, 2018:273; Tien, 2017:656-657), manifested both in global arenas (Cupać & Ebetürk, 2020; Sanders, 2018) and in the increasing efforts of overturning Roe v. Wade in the US (Planned Parenthood, w.y.a. Ziegler, 2009:284; BBC News, 2020, October 27; Berman, 2017, March 21; North, 2019, May 10), whereas the election of Trump could have been a symbol for this – his run for president coincided with the societal trends at the time (Tien, 2017:656-657).

Nevertheless, Trump and his administration has had an explicit agenda of prohibiting abortion and attempting to limit women's reproductive freedom by taking measures specific for his time and presidency (Chuang & Weisman, 2019:993; Gozdecka, 2020:9; Guttmacher Institute, w.y) indicating that his presidency has had a direct effect on women's reproductive rights. This could be a potential influencing factor on the hardened tone manifested in the political discourse of abortion in Ohio, since there is support from a high political instance for prohibiting abortion, overturning the right to abortion and persevere with one's pro-life

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See chapter 3.1. Global Policies on Reproductive Health and 3.2.3. The Societal Circumstances.

ideology. The two explanations for the discursive change are seemingly somewhat intertwined, a hegemonic intervention is unleashed whilst the societal circumstances are favorable for the success of this intervention. There has also been an emancipatory movement that could have been further accelerating the ongoing backlash. The two explanations could be mutually constituting each other, creating the opportunities for new ways of achieving the prohibition of abortion – giving the discourse momentum. This must be kept in mind as possible influencing factors on the developments of the discourse. This discussion also highlights that the prohibition of abortion has a greater purpose, it is supposed to create a certain social reality which I claim is a (re)installation of the patriarchal societal structure.

# 8. Consequences of a Certain Social Reality

As was mentioned in the beginning of chapter 6.4.1. The Joint Discourse, it is evident that the political discourse of abortion in Ohio seeks to prohibit abortion by establishing it as something unwanted and wrong. But the underlying motivation; what social reality this is supposed to create, is not as clear. The prohibition of abortion can be assumed to be underpinned and influenced by the pro-life ideology and current global and national conservative forces. This will entail certain consequences, both on a societal and individual level. This discussion will be infused with arguments and claims from chapter 4.2. Previous research, to underpin my arguments, create a deeper understanding of the mechanisms of backlash, and put the findings in this study in both this field of research and a historical context. This chapter will contribute to answer this study's second research question:

• What consequences could this backlash have for society in general and women in particular?

## 8.1. The Social Reality

I claim that the attempt of prohibiting abortion in the state of Ohio does not simply revolve around abortion, or the preservation of life, rather, its greater purpose is to (re)install a patriarchal societal order. However, prohibiting abortion is the tool to succeed, and especially the practice of operationalizing a hegemonic intervention which temporarily leaves no room for opposition from women since discourses constitute reality and discursive changes consequently changes this reality (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002). If this discourse of abortion would become hegemonic in the state of Ohio, these articulations would translate into conditioning actions in reality. This is a beginning to an answer to what social reality this discourse creates, and what consequences this reality might entail.

One important part for the structuring of the current society-wide backlash is the language of family. The nuclear family embodies the societal structure which the nationalistic and conservative societal forces aims to achieve (Cupać & Ebetürk, 2020; Gozdecka, 2020; Sanders, 2018). Attempts to narrow the definition of family, and promote this narrative further, is apparent both on a global level and in the US (Ibid; Franklin & Ginsburg, 2019:5-6). Within this discourse, traditional womanly virtues and democracy are intertwined. The woman's main purpose is to produce and raise good citizens, which is dependent on her performance as a woman. Embodying her womanly virtues is important for the success of the

nation-state and is perceived as having a direct effect on the upholding of democracy. Which, at the same time, is conditioning her political position and permits her less power (Berglund, 2007:304; Boryczka, 2012:1-17; Hill Collins, 1998:63, 66, 77). Historically, family planning has been an empowering feature for women's emancipation and attaining more power. Being in control of when they wanted to be pregnant enabled the realization of other parts of their lives, such as building a career and entering the public sphere of society. Family planning has therefore concurrently also been a practice that challenged both the authority and social status of men, and in extent the patriarchal societal order (Faludi, 1991:61-63, 69-70) which entailed privileges and advantages for men (Cudd, 2002:8; Hawkesworth, 1999:141). To dissociate with one's womanly virtues, and strive for fulfilling other parts of one's life thereby attaining more power, is perceived as a threat against this nation-state because of the interrelation between family and the success of the democracy. and therefore this particularly important part of women's emancipation, is often what is targeted by backlash: restricting reproductive rights and abortion (Infanger et al, 2016:110, 122).

#### Consequences

The conservative forces (transnationally and in the US), the attempts to restrict women's reproductive freedom and the narrative of family are all intertwined and affects each other, and is somewhat used as tools to motivate the current society-wide backlash. This influences the delimited case studied in this thesis, the political discourse of abortion in Ohio emanates from a pro-life ideology and its success is enabled through the current societal circumstances, as I have argued for above. When successful, this backlash could be claimed to aim to reinstate the woman in the private sphere since her main options for leaving it are targeted. Indicating its greater purpose, to (re)install the patriarchal societal structure.

The claim I make, is that the current backlash in the state of Ohio aims to institutionalize women's subordination by a hegemonic intervention, which almost completely prohibits, and heavily criminalizes, abortion. The institutionalization is due to the production of this subordination through the exercise of power (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002), articulated in the Ohio bills. If this current backlash is successful, if the hegemonic intervention establishes this discourse as neutral and uncontested, this also creates a new social reality, especially affecting women. Since much of the public/official discourse in the US revolves around the family, backlash targeting these specific areas of women's decision-making can be believed to go hand in hand with reinstating her in the private sphere.

To understand the construction of a discourse one can also examine what is excluded from it (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002), in this case I would argue that the ideology underpinning the urge of prohibiting abortion is one such thing, this is not expressed explicitly. The chains of equivalence in the combined political discourse of abortion, structured by moments such as "unborn human individual" and "pregnant woman", creates a reality whereas abortion is condemned, and in addition attempts to fixate the meaning of woman in accordance with traditional values of womanhood. Focusing solely on the woman's ability to reproduce excludes other potential descriptions of being a woman, of identities for her. This discursive structuring of an individual's identity is within discourse theory referred to as their subject position. This includes a multitude of components of a person's identity, such as being a woman, one's occupation, one's political alignment, etcetera. Some identities are more marginalized in society, for example being a person of color and/or a part of the LGBTQ+ community (Guttmacher Institute, w.y). Her subject positioning can therefore further affect her movement space, since these identities are interrelated and affect each other.

Family rhetoric's, and the current conservative societal forces, creates an environment whereas the backlash in Ohio could become reality. This structural positioning of women in this discourse, creates certain consequences. Her subject positioning both permits her a certain identity as a woman, and this also heavily restricts her exercise of power. The reinstating effectively deprives her of her bodily autonomy, to make her own decisions, since her reproductive freedom is limited, and her main purpose is to be a woman in accordance with the family narrative: producing citizens and upholding democracy. The social reality and the consequences on a societal and/or individual level are somewhat the same, the social reality would imply a regression whereas women generally are reinstated in the private sphere to some extent. On a more structural level since this would affect the decision-making and exercise of power of all women in society. But if the political discourse of abortion, which as a tool of sorts for the success of conservative forces apparent in many Western democracies and global forums, would become hegemonic the main consequence would be what I have argued is the very goal of the hegemonic intervention in the state of Ohio: a (re)installment of the patriarchal societal structure. By completely banishing abortion, the lost authority, social status and consequently privileges that family planning historically deprived men of (Faludi, 1991) also has the potentiality of being reinstalled. Mainly because the discourse of abortion deems the fetus as more entitled to its life than the woman, and because a (re)installment of

the patriarchal societal order is sought-after. This is an indication that this delimited expression of the ongoing society-wide backlash I have examined in this study, is a part of this larger backlash directed towards women's rights.

However, the attempted hegemonic intervention, the two created felonies in HB413, will probably not be met with total submission. It is known that the number of abortions does not decrease due to prohibition or lack of access, they tend to be performed illegally instead with great health risks for the woman (WHO, w.y.a.; WHO, w.y.b.), which in its own way is an act of resistance to subordination and the patriarchal structure. This hegemonic intervention can however also be interpreted as a sign of desperation. The explicitness of the discourse, and the severity of the punishments, could be an expression of a "last attempt" to maintain the unjust societal structure. The multitude of current attempts in the US of prohibiting abortion and overturning Roe v. Wade (Cappello et al, 2019; Ziegler, 2009:284), as well as similar movements globally (Cupać & Ebetürk, 2020; Gozdecka, 2020; Sanders, 2018), indicates that this could be part of a larger struggle to preserve the threatened patriarchal societal structure.

## 9. Conclusions

The results of the text analysis of the Ohio bills showed that this particular expression of the society-wide backlash has developed from articulations such as scientific argument's, paraphrasing's, appealing to a person's morale, and creating certain identities for women, to threatening with life imprisonment or the death penalty. The main findings consisted of the transferring of rights from the woman to the fetus, explicitly written in one of the bills and enforced through the severe criminalization of abortion. This criminalization constituted a discursive change, whereas former articulations of scientific connections between a fetal heartbeat and a live birth, as well as paraphrasing's or creating identities, were no longer included. This change is perceived as a hegemonic intervention, an attempt to erase ambiguities and establish the discourse as hegemonic without resistance. The detected change could give an indication of the developments of the current society-wide backlash, apart from being a delimited expression of this backlash, the larger ongoing backlash on a transnational level emanates from the same advancing conservative societal forces.

The discussion of the results argued that this discursive change, the hegemonic intervention, has a greater purpose than to prohibit abortion – which is to (re)install the patriarchal societal structure. Currently the societal circumstances are favorable for the success of this attempt, with conservative forces advancing both on the global arena and in the US, undermining women's rights and attempting to diminish the right to abortion. The conservative forces rely on the narrative of family, which is closely connected with nationalism and traditional gender roles. The normative implications of this patriarchal social reality are that it requires the subordination of women. On a societal level the consequences would be a more general backlash, whereas certain groups thrive on an unequal hierarchical societal structure. The consequences for women are mainly that she is the principal prerequisite for creating this unequal structure, so that men once again can enjoy the advantages and privileges that this order entails. She is bereft of her decision-making, and her allocated subject position further complicates emancipation since it severely restricts her exercise of power. However, I also claim that the attempt to (re)install the patriarchal societal structure could be a last, desperate attempt to hinder gender equality, which indicates that the patriarchal structure feels severely threatened by feminist movements and what they achieve.

# 10. Reference List

1177. (w.y.). När barn föds för tidigt. Retrieved 2021-02-01, from https://www.1177.se/Vastra-Gotaland/barn--gravid/att-skota-ett-nyfott-barn/for-tidigt-fodda-barn/

Ackerly, Brooke A., & True, Jacqui. (2010). *Doing Feminist Research in Political and Social Science*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

Adashi, E. Y., & Occhiogrosso, R. H. (2017). The Hyde Amendment at 40 Years and Reproductive Rights in the United States: Perennial and Panoptic. *JAMA*, 317(15), pp. 1523–1524.

Ahmad, A. & Bromley, V. (2006). Wa(i)ving Solidarity – Feminist Activists Confronting Backlash. *Canadian Woman Studies*, 25(3-4), pp. 61-71.

Alexander, A. J. (2011). M/othering the Nation: Women's Bodies as Nationalist Trope in Edwidge Danticat's Breath, Eyes, Memory. *African American Review*, 44(3), pp. 373-390.

Alvesson, M & Sköldberg, K. (2009). *Reflexive Methodology: New Vistas for Qualitative Research* (2nd ed.). London: Sage Publications.

American Civil Liberties Union of Ohio [ACLU]. (w.y.). *HB 69 – Six Week Abortion Ban* (2015-2016). Retrieved 2020-01-13, from https://www.acluohio.org/archives/legislation/hb-69-six-week-abortion-ban

Amnesty International. (w.y.a.). *Key facts on abortion*. Retrieved 2020-01-09, from https://www.amnesty.org/en/what-we-do/sexual-and-reproductive-rights/abortion-facts/

Arrhenius, S. (1999). En riktig kvinna. Stockholm: Atlas.

BBC News. (2020, October 27). *Amy Coney Barrett confirmed to US Supreme Court*. Retrieved 2021-01-10, from https://www.bbc.com/news/election-us-2020-54700307

Beck, R. (2011). Self-conscious dicta: The Origins of Roe v. Wade's Trimester Framework. *American Journal of Legal History*, 51(3), pp. 505-530.

Belknap, J. (2015). Activist Criminology: Criminologists' Responsibility To Advocate for Social and Legal Justice. *Criminology*, 53(1), pp. 1-22.

Berglund, T. (2007). Det goda faderskapet; i svenskt 1800-tal. Härnösand: Mittuniversitetet.

Bergström, G. & Boréus, K. (2015). Textens mening och makt. Lund: Studentlitteratur.

Berman, M. (2017, March 21). Trump Promised Judges That Would Overturn Roe v. Wade. *The Washington Post*. Available: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2017/live-updates/trump-white-house/neil-gorsuch-confirmation-hearings-updates-and-analysis-on-the-supreme-court-nominee/trump-promised-judges-who-would-overturn-roe-v-wade/

Bingenheimer, J. B. & Skuster, P. (2017). The Foreseeable Harms of Trump's Global Gag Rule. *Studies in Family Planning*, 48(3), pp. 279-280.

Björk, N. (2018). *Under det rosa täcket*. Stockholm: Wahlström och Widstrand.

Borgmann, C. E. (2013). Roe v. Wade's 40th anniversary: moment of truth for the anti-abortion-rights movement? *Stanford Law & Policy Review*, 24(1), 245-270.

Boryczka, J., M. (2012). Suspect Citizens – Women, Virtue and Vice in Backlash Politics. Pennsylvania: Temple University Press.

Braithwaite, A. (2004). Politics of/and Backlash. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 5(5), pp. 18-33. URL: http://vc.bridgew.edu/jiws/vol5/iss5/2

Braun, V. & Wilkinson, S. (2001). Socio-cultural representations of the vagina. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 19(1), pp. 17-32.

Buote, V. M., Wilson, A. E., Strahan, E. J., Gazzola, S. B. & Papps, F. (2011). Setting the bar: Divergent sociocultural norms for women's and men's ideal appearance in real-world contexts. *Body Image*, *8*, *pp.* 322-334.

Butler, J. (1999). Gender Trouble. New York: Routledge.

Butler, J. (2007). Genustrubbel. Göteborg: Daidalos.

Cappello, O. Mohammed, L. Naide, S. & Nash, E. (2019). State Policy Trends 2019: A Wave of Abortion Bans, But Some States Are Fighting Back. *Guttmacher Institute*. Available: https://www.guttmacher.org/article/2019/12/state-policy-trends-2019-wave-abortion-bans-some-states-are-fighting-back

Chandran, A., Hardin, C., Lee, M., Petri, Y. & Russo, M. (2018). Shifting Power Dynamics: The #MeToo Movement. *Berkeley Scientific Journal*, 22(2), pp. 35-38.

Chuang, C. H. & Weisman, C. S. (2019). Taking Aim at Contraceptive Coverage — The Trump Administration's Attacks on Reproductive Rights. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 380, pp. 993-995.

Cherniavsky, E. (2019). KEYWORD 1 – #MeToo. d if ferences: A Journal of Feminist Cultural Studies, 30(1), pp. 15-23.

Chodorow, N. (1978). *The Reproduction of Mothering: psychoanalysis and the sociology of gender*. California: University of California Press.

CNBC. (2019, April 11). *Ohio governor to sign ban on abortion after first detectable heartbeat*. Retrieved 2020-12-30, from https://www.cnbc.com/2019/04/11/ohio-governor-to-sign-ban-on-abortion-after-first-detectable-heartbeat.html

CNN. (2019, August 15). *Neil Gorsuch Fast Facts*. Retrieved 2020-02-26, from https://edition.cnn.com/2017/02/03/us/neil-gorsuch-fast-facts/index.html

Cudd, A., E. (2002). Analyzing Backlash to Progressive Social Movements. In; Cudd, A., E. & Superson, A., M. (eds), *Theorizing Backlash*, pp. 3-16. Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.

Cupać, J., & Ebetürk, I. (2020). The personal is global political: The antifeminist backlash in the United Nations. *The British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, 22(4), pp. 702–714.

Dahl, R. A. (2002). *Dahl*. Haugaard, M. (eds). In; Power – a reader. Manchester: Manchester University Press.

De Beauvoir, S. (2002). Det andra könet. Stockholm: Nordstedts förlag.

de Zordo, S. & Unnithana, M. (2018). Re-situating abortion: Bio-politics, global health and rights in neo-liberal times. *Global public health*, 13(6), pp. 657-661. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2018.1445271

Define Offenses: Aggravated abortion murder and Abortion murder Act, H. R. 413, 133rd G. A. [Defines Offenses Act]. (2019). Retrieved 2020-01-13, from https://legiscan.com/OH/text/HB413/id/2062004/Ohio-2019-HB413-Introduced.pdf

Ennser-Jedenastik, L. (2018). Welfare Chauvinism in Populist Radical Right Platforms: The Role of Redistributive Justice Principles. *Social Policy & Administration*, 52(1), pp. 293-314.

Erdman, J., N. (2016). The politics of Global Abortion Rights. *The Brown Journal of World Affairs*, 22(2), pp. 39-57.

Esaiasson, P., Gilljam, M., Oscarsson, H. & Wängnerud, L. (2012). *Metodpraktikan*. Stockholm: Nordstedts Juridik.

Faludi, S. (1991). *Backlash: The Undeclared War Against American Women*. New York: Three Rivers Press.

Franklin, S. (2019). Nostalgic Nationalism: How a Discourse of Sacrificial Reproduction Helped Fuel Brexit Britain. *Cultural Anthropology*, *34*(1), *pp. 41–52*.

Franklin, S. & Ginsburg, F. (2019). Reproductive Politics in the Age of Trump and Brexit. *Cultural Anthropology*, *34*(1), *pp. 3-9*.

Freeman, J. & Johnson, V. (1999). Preface & Introduction. In Freeman, J. & Johnson, V. (eds.), *Waves of Protest – Social Movements Since the Sixties. Pp. ix-4*. Oxford: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers Inc.

Gemzöe, L. (2017). Feminism. Hägersten: Bilda förlag.

Gillett, T. (2019, November 29). Ohio House introduces restrictive abortion bill, requiring medically unsound practices. *Jurist*. Available: https://www.jurist.org/news/2019/11/ohio-house-introduces-restrictive-abortion-bill-requiring-medically-unsound-practices/

Gillette, M. (2012). Modern American Abortion Narratives and the Century of Silence. *Twentieth Century Literature*, 58(4), pp. 663-687.

Giovanelli, D. & Ostertag, S. (2009). *Controlling the body: Media representations, body size, and self-discipline*. In Rothblum, E. D. & Solovay. S. (eds). The Fat Studies Reader. pp. 289-296. New York: NYU Press.

Gozdecka, D. A. (2020). Backlash or Widening the Gap?: Women's Reproductive Rights in the Twenty-First Century. *Laws 9, 1*(8), *pp. 1-14*.

Guttmacher Institute. (w.y.) *The Unprecedented Expansion of the Global Gag Rule: Trampling Rights, Health and Free Speech*. Retrieved 2021-03-01, from https://www.guttmacher.org/gpr/2020/04/unprecedented-expansion-global-gag-rule-trampling-rights-health-and-free-speech#

Greenhouse, L. (2012). Public Opinion & the Supreme Court: The Puzzling Case of Abortion. *Daedalus*, 141(4), 69-82.

Greenhouse, L., & Siegel, R. B. (2011). Before (and after) Roe v. Wade: New questions about backlash. *Yale Law Journal*, 120(8), 2028-2087.

Guillaume, A., & Rossier, C. (2018). Abortion around the world: An overview of legislation, measures, trends, and consequences. *Population*, 73(2), 217.

Göteborgs Universitet. (w.y.). *Master's Programme in International Administration and Global Governance*. Retrieved 2020-05-07, from https://utbildning.gu.se/education/courses-and-programmes/program detail?programid=S2IAG

Halperin-Kaddari, R. & Freeman, M. A. (2016). Backlash goes global: Men's groups, patriarchal family policy, and the false promise of gender-neutral laws. *Canadian Journal of Women and the Law*, 28(1), pp. 182-210.

Haugaard, M. (2002). *Haugaard*. Haugaard, M. (eds). In; Power – a reader. Manchester: Manchester University Press.

Hawkesworth, M. (1999). Analyzing Backlash: Feminist Standpoint Theory as Analytical Tool. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 22(2), pp. 135–155. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-5395(99)00003-5

Head, T. (2019). The Pro-Life vs Pro-Choice Debate. In *ThoughtCo*. Retrieved 2020-01-30, from https://www.thoughtco.com/pro-life-vs-pro-choice-721108

Hildebrandt, A. (2015). What Shapes Abortion Law? – A Global Perspective. *Global Policy*, 6(4), pp.418-428, DOI: 10.1111/1758-5899.12208

Hill Collins, P. (1998). It's All in the Family; intersections of gender, race and nation. *Hypatia*, 13(3), s. 62–82.

Hirdman, Y. (1997). *Litteratursociologi. Texter om litteratur och samhälle*. Lund: Studentlitteratur.

Horton, A. (2019, June 5). Trump's anti-abortion global gag rule threatening women's lives, report says. *The Guardian*. Available: https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2019/jun/05/trump-global-gag-rule-anti-abortion-harms-women-africa-asia-report

Human Rights Watch [HRW]. (2009). *United States Ratification of International Human Rights Treaties*. Retrieved 2020-03-20, from https://www.hrw.org/news/2009/07/24/united-states-ratification-international-human-rights-treaties

Human Rights Watch [HRW]. (2020). *Weinstein Rape Sentence in US Boosts #MeToo Movement*. Retrieved 2020-03-20, from https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/03/12/weinstein-rape-sentence-us-boosts-metoo-movement

IN.gov. (2001). *How a Bill becomes Law*. Retrieved 2020-04-02, from https://www.in.gov/gov/files/BillintoLaw.pdf?fbclid=IwAR2wLitca6BHin-Ft4lg3lTaO\_SIuGxJuiQGTiSTZOhKrz-VykmnqMrZNvA

Infanger, M., Laurie A. Rudman, L., A. & Sczesny, S. (2016). Sex as a source of power? Backlash against self-sexualizing women. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 19(1), pp. 110–124. DOI: 10.1177/1368430214558312

International Women's Health Coalition [IWHC]. (2019). *Crisis In Care*. Available: https://31u5ac2nrwj6247cya153vw9-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/IWHC GGR Report 2019-WEB single pg-2.pdf

Johannisson, K. (1994). Den mörka kontinenten. Stockholm: Nordstedts Förlag.

Jørgensen, M & Phillips, L. (2002). *Discourse Analysis as Theory and Method*, London: Sage Publications.

Karson, K. & Nagle, M. (2021, January 20). Joe Biden: What you need to know about the 46th president. *ABC News*. Available: https://abcnews.go.com/Politics/joe-biden-entering-2020-field/story?id=61078936

Kasler, K. (2019, February 13). Heartbeat Bill Gets First Hearing For What Could Be Its Last Time Through The Legislature. *Statehouse News Bureau*. Available: http://www.statenews.org/post/heartbeat-bill-gets-first-hearing-what-could-be-its-last-time-through-legislature

Legiscan. (w.y.). About. Retrieved 2021-01-13, from https://legiscan.com/about

Leth, G. & Thurén, T. (2000). Källkritik för internet. Stockholm: Styrelsen för psykologiskt försvar.

Lowen, L. (2020). Key Arguments from Both Sides of the Abortion Debate. In *ThoughtCo*. Retrieved 2020-01-30, from https://www.thoughtco.com/arguments-for-and-against-abortion-3534153

Mansbridge, J. & Shames, S., L. (2008). Toward a Theory of Backlash: Dynamic Resistance and the Central Role of Power. *Politics & Gender, 4*(4), *pp. 623-634.* doi:10.1017/S1743923X08000500

Marshall, C & Rossman, G, B. (2016). *Designing Qualitative Research* (6th ed.). Los Angeles: Sage Publications.

Martin, J. (2013). *Chantal Mouffe*. Hegemony, radical democracy and the political. Oxon: Routledge.

Mavodza, C., Goldman, R., & Cooper, B. (2019). The impacts of the global gag rule on global health: a scoping review. *Global Health Research and Policy*, 4(26), pp. 1-21.

Mottl, T., L. (1980). The Analysis of Countermovements. *Social Problems, Sociology of Political Knowledge Issue: Theoretical Inquiries, Critiques and Explications, 27*(5), pp. 620-635.

Nationalencyklopedin [NE]. (w.y.a.). *Me too-rörelsen*. Retrieved 2020-01-10, from https://www-ne-se.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/uppslagsverk/encyklopedi/lång/me-too-rörelsen

Nationalencyklopedin [NE]. (w.y.b.). *USA*. Retrieved 2020-04-03, from https://www-nese.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/uppslagsverk/encyklopedi/lång/usa#statsskick-och-politik

Nationalencyklopedin [NE]. (w.y.c.). *Abort*. Retrieved 2020-04-21, from https://www-nese.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/uppslagsverk/encyklopedi/lång/abort

North, M. (2019, May 10). The controversial abortion bills sweeping the country this week, explained. *Vox.* Retrieved 2020-02-27, from https://www.vox.com/2019/5/10/18564436/ohio-abortion-bill-law-alabama-georgia-details

Oppenheim, M. (2019, April 17). Roe vs Wade: Abortion could be made illegal with Brett Kavanaugh on Supreme Court, says Michigan Attorney General. *The Independent*. Available: https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/americas/roe-v-wade-overturn-abortion-brett-kavanaugh-supreme-court-dana-nessel-michigan-a8874946.html

Phillips, L. & Winther Jørgensen, M. (2000). *Diskursanalys som teori och metod*. Lund: Studentlitteratur.

Planned Parenthood. (w.y.a.). Roe v. Wade: The Constitutional Right to Access Safe, Legal Abortion. Retrieved 2020-01-10, from

https://www.plannedparenthoodaction.org/issues/abortion/roe-v-wade

Planned Parenthood. (w.y.b.). Can you explain what pro-choice means and pro-life means? Retrieved 2020-05-04, from https://www.plannedparenthood.org/learn/teens/ask-experts/can-you-explain-what-pro-choice-means-and-pro-life-means-im-supposed-to-do-it-for-a-class-thanks

Prasad, R. (2019, January 24). Trump first president to attend anti-abortion rally. *BBC*. Available: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-us-canada-51239795

Prohibit Abortion if Detectable Heartbeat Act, S. 23, 133rd G. A. [Prohibit Abortion Act]. (2019a). Retrieved 2020-01-13, from https://legiscan.com/OH/text/SB23/id/1990622/Ohio-2019-SB23-Enrolled.pdf

Prohibit Abortion if Detectable Heartbeat Act. H. R. 68, 133rd G. A. [Prohibit Abortion Act]. (2019b). Retrieved 2020-12-30, from https://legiscan.com/OH/text/HB68/id/1904893/Ohio-2019-HB68-Introduced.pdf

Prohibit abortion if unborn has detectable heartbeat Act, H. R. 258, 132d G.A. (2017). Retrieved 2021-03-11, from https://legiscan.com/OH/text/HB258/id/1830435/Ohio-2017-HB258-Enrolled.pdf

Prohibits Abortion if Detectable Heartbeat Act, H. R. 69, 131st G. A. [Prohibits Abortion Act]. (2015). Retrieved 2020-12-30, from https://legiscan.com/OH/text/HB69/2015

Rampell, P. (2018). The Science Fiction of Roe V. Wade. *English Literary History*, 85(1), pp.221-252.

Ruibal, A. (2014). Movement and counter-movement: a History of Abortion Law Reform and the Backlash in Colombia 2006–2014. *Reproductive Health Matters*, 22(44), pp. 42-51.

Saad, L. (2019, June 25). Majority in U.S. Still Want Abortion Legal, With Limits. *Gallup*. Available: https://news.gallup.com/poll/259061/majority-abortion-legal-limits.aspx

Sanders, R. (2018). Norm spoiling: undermining the international women's rights agenda. *International Affairs*, 94(2), pp. 271–291.

Stolberg, S., G. (2018, October 6). Kavanaugh is Sworn in After Close Confirmation Vote in Senate. *The New York Times*. Available:

https://www.nytimes.com/2018/10/06/us/politics/brett-kavanaugh-supreme-court.html

Sufrin, C. (2019). When the Punishment is Pregnancy: Carceral Restriction of Abortion in the United States. *Cultural Anthropology*, 34(1), pp. 34–40.

Tavernise, S. (2019, April 18). How Banning Abortion in the Early Weeks of Pregnancy Suddenly Became Mainstream. *The New York Times*. Available: https://www.nytimes.com/2019/04/18/us/ohio-abortion-heartbeat-bill.html

The Ohio Legislature. (w.y.). *House Bill 413 Summary*. Retrieved 2021-01-13, from https://www.legislature.ohio.gov/legislation/legislation-summary?id=GA133-HB-413

Thurén, T. (2013). Källkritik. Stockholm: Liber.

To generally prohibit an abortion of an unborn human individual with a detectable fetal heartbeat Act, H. R. 125, 129th G. A. [Generally Prohibit Abortion Act]. (2011). Retrieved 2021-03-11, from https://legiscan.com/OH/text/HB125/id/340176/Ohio-2011-HB125-Engrossed.html

To generally prohibit an abortion of an unborn human individual with a detectable heartbeat and to create the Joint Legislative Committee on Adoption Promotion and Support, S. 297, 130th G. A. [To Generally Prohibit Abortion]. (2014). Retrieved 2021-03-11, from https://legiscan.com/OH/text/SB297/id/988964/Ohio-2013-SB297-Introduced.html

Tracy, S, J. (2010). Qualitative Quality: Eight "Big-Tent" Criteria for Excellent Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 16(10), pp. 837–851.

United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner [OHCHR]. *CEDAW in your daily life*. Retrieved 2020-12-30, from

https://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/CEDAW/Pages/DailyLife.aspx

United Nations Treaty Collection [UNTC]. (w.y.a.). *Chapter IV, Human Rights, 8.*Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women. Retrieved 2020-12-30, from

https://treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=IV-8&chapter=4&lang=en

United Nations Treaty Collection [UNTC]. (w.y.b.). Chapter IV, Human Rights, 8. b Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women. Retrieved 2020-12-30, from

https://treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=IV-8-b&chapter=4&clang=\_en

Walton-Roberts, M. (2019). *Gender and Identity in the Jigsaw Puzzle of Trump's Zero Sum Politics*. Kawolski, J. (eds). In; Reding Donald Trump. London: Palgrave McMillan.

Walby, S. (1993). 'Backlash' in Historical Context. In Kennedy, M., Lubelska, C. & Walsh, V. (eds.), in: *Making Connections: Women's Studies, Women's Movements, Women's Lives. Pp. 79-89.* London: Taylor & Francis.

Weston, K. (1998). *Families We Choose*. In Nardi, P. M. & Schneider, B. E. (red), Social Perspectives in Lesbian and Gay Studies: A Reader. London: Routledge.

Williams, T. (2019, December 4). New Abortion Bills Are So Tough That Some Conservatives Have Qualms. *The New York Times*. Available: https://www.nytimes.com/2019/12/04/us/abortion-bills-ohio-ectopic-pregnancy.html

Women's Intercultural Network. (w.y.a.). *Background*. Retrieved 2020-12-30, from http://citiesforcedaw.org/background/

Women's Intercultural Network. (w.y.b.). *Resoruces*. Retrieved 2020-12-30, from http://citiesforcedaw.org/resources/

World Health Organization [WHO]. (w.y.a.). *Abortion*. Retrieved 2020-04-21, from https://www.who.int/health-topics/abortion#tab=tab 1

World Health Organization [WHO]. (w.y.b.). *Preventing unsafe abortion*. Retrieved 2021-01-07, from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/preventing-unsafe-abortion

Yin, R, K. (2018). *Case Study Research - Design and Methods*. Los Angeles: Sage Publications.

Young, I. M. (2000). Att kasta tjejkast: texter om feminism och rättvisa. Stockholm: Atlas.

Young, I. M. (2007). *Globala utmaningar – Krig, självbestämmande och global rättvisa*. Hägersten: Tankekraft Förlag.

Ziegeler, M. (2009). The Framing of a Right to Choose: Roe v. Wade and the Changing Debate on Abortion Law. *Law and History Review*, 27(2), pp. 281-330.

# Appendix 1: Example of the informal coding operationalized in the analysis

H. B. No. 69 As Passed by the House	Page 11
to section 111.15 of the Revised Code to assist in compliance	281
with this section.	282
Sec. 2919.19. (A) As used in this section and sections	283
2919.191 to <del>2919.193-</del> 2919.1910 of the Revised Code:	284
(A) (1) "Conception" means fertilization.	285
(2) "Contraceptive" means a drug, device, or chemical that	286
prevents conception.	287
(3) "DNA" means deoxyribonucleic acid.	288
(4) "Fetal heartbeat" means cardiac activity or the steady	289
and repetitive rhythmic contraction of the fetal heart within	290
the gestational sac.	291
(B) [5] "Fetus" means the human offspring developing	292
during pregnancy from the moment of conception and includes the	293
embryonic stage of development.	294
(C) (6) "Gestational age" means the age of an unborn human	295
<pre>individual as calculated from the first day of the last</pre>	296
menstrual period of a pregnant woman.	297
(D) (7) "Gestational sac" means the structure that	298
comprises the extraembryonic membranes that envelop the fetus	299
and that is typically visible by ultrasound after the fourth	300
week of pregnancy.	301
(E) (8) "Intrauterine pregnancy" means a pregnancy in	302
which the fetus is attached to the placenta within the uterus of	303
the pregnant woman.	304

(Prohibits Abortion if Detectable Heartbeat Act, 2015:11).